
 

This meeting will be conducted in a handicap accessible room.  If special accommodations are needed, 
please contact City Recorder, Susan Reeves at (503) 543-7146, ext. 224 in advance. 

TTY 1-503-378-5938 
 

 
MONDAY, JANUARY 7, 2019 

 

SWEARING IN OF NEW CITY COUNCIL, 6:00PM 
Oath of Office for Mayor Scott Burge ~ Administered by County Clerk Betty Huser 

Oath of Office for Councilor Joel Haugen, Councilor Josh Poling, and  

Councilor Brandon Lesowske ~ Administered by County Clerk Betty Huser 

Reception to follow 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Regular meeting 7:00 p.m. 

 

ITEM AGENDA TOPIC___________________________________Action________ 
Call to Order 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Approval of the Agenda 

Public Comments 

1. Consent Agenda ~ December 3, 2018 Work Session minutes and December 3, 2018 City 

Council meeting minutes 

2.  Election for Council President  

3.  Appoint Affordable Housing Ad Hoc Committee consisting of: Casey Mitchell - 

Community Action Team, Bill Blank – Habitat for Humanity & City of Scappoose 

Planning Commissioner, and all members of City of Scappoose City Council.  

New Business 
4.  ORD. No. 877: An Ordinance Amending Chapters 17.62, 17.68. 17.69, 17.70, and 17.162 

and Adding a New Chapter, 17.126 – Food Cart Pod Permits to the Scappoose Municipal 

Code                                                                           Public Hearing / First Reading  

Staff:  City Planner Laurie Oliver 
 

 

5.  Water Conservation Plan                         Approval 

Staff: Public Works Director Dave Sukau & Treatment Plant Supervisor Darryl Sykes  
 

6.  Survey Poll Results                 

Staff:  Assistant to City Manager Alexandra Rains 
  

Announcements ~ information only 

7.  Calendar  

  City Manager, Police Chief, Councilors, and Mayor 

Adjournment 



Call to Order 

MONDAY, DECEMBER 3, 2018 
WORK SESSION,..., SCHOOL SAFETY UPDATE 

Scappoose Council Chambers 
33568 East Columbia A venue 

Mayor Burge called the Work Session to order at 6:33 p.m. 

Present: Mayor Scott Burge, Council President Mark Reed, Councilor Patrick Kessi, Councilor 
Megan Greisen, Councilor Josh Poling, City Manager Michael Sykes, Legal Counsel Peter 
Watts, Office Administrator Kim Mann, and CDC Administrator Elizabeth Happala. 

Present in the audience: Courtney Vaughn with the Spotlight 

Chief Norm Miller spoke about School Safety and his video, I Love You Guys. 

STANDARD TM 

RESPONSE PROTOCOL 

Chief Miller and Troy have been keeping stats on what they've been doing in the schools and 
they broke it down for the last 3 months. Categories are: calls for service, alcohol and marijuana 
issues, weapons calls, the times Troy spends at each school, and classes taught. They are 
teaching a lot more classes, which was one of their goals. Parent and teacher contact, which 
includes if a teacher has an issue or wants to discuss something, student contact, and traffic 
enforcement duties are all being tracked. Troy has exceeded Norm's expectations as the SRO, 
everybody at the school has nothing but good things to say about Troy; the teachers, the students, 
the staff, he's always available for them, which works out very well. 

The school adopted the video, "I Love You Guys" years ago. When Chief Miller showed this 
video at school, he asked everyone in the room who has been taught this and out of 10 people 
only 1 person raised their hand. So right then he and Troy decided that's a priority. They sat 
down with Paul Peterson and then went to training with Mr. Keys, who did the presentation that 
you just listened to. Mr. Keys' daughter was taken hostage and killed in a school shooting and 
there weren't any protocols. The officers did their best, but the room was barricaded and there 

City Council minutes December 3, 2018 
1 

1



were so many different things about that aspect. The last text she sent them was, "I love you 
guys" and that's where this foundation came from. Everything they have online is free, their 
PowerPoint, their presentations, their kits, everything is free. He and Troy went through the 
training, they taught themselves and offered it to the school to bring the school together and let 
them teach the school, let them teach the teachers, let them teach the kids, and let them teach the 
parents. They first met with the Middle School and High School teachers and they did the I 
Love You Guys presentation, which was received very well. In February he's going to give the 
presentation to City Council during a work session and he's hoping people will come and sit in 
the audience and watch and listen because it's pretty self-explanatory and it doesn't get very 
technical, and it's very easy to use. He whole-heartedly believes in it, and he and Troy are both 
teaching it. 

They assisted the school district with their 2-way radio system, which wasn't very good. They 
brought in a company and did a bunch of testing for different locations in schools to see if they 
could talk to schools or if the school district could talk to each other. They formulated a plan, 
which is in Paul Peterson's hands now, in regard to the fact that they have different channels. 
Each school needs to buy 75 portable radios to help out with their school being able to have 
communication. They'd have communication with the maintenance staff since, when asked, 
how do you know you're on lockdown, they did not know to notify maintenance. So, they are 
working on purchasing those radios. Troy just ordered. the reunification kits; if you go on the I 
Love You Guys website you can see the kits. Every school will have one, including the Police 
Department. The biggest thing he hears from teachers is, "This is Scappoose, it's not going to 
happen to us." His response is always the same, "how many of those schools that have had that 
happen have said the exact same thing?" As a Police Department and as a City we are taking 
this seriously, so were moving forward with this. 

At Otto Petersen the shrubs have been trimmed way back, and you can see that all around the 
schools and a lot of the doors have been fixed. They just did their first lock-down drill the other 
day. His question to the school was, when was the last time you did a lock down drill? It wasn't 
happening. Fire drills happen every month. How many kids die from fires? Zero. So now 
they're doing the lock down drills, which is great. Peterson did it, Warren did it. The Middle 
School was already doing it. Most schools are now doing routine checks of their doors, are they 
in working order, are they staying locked when they close, when they push the button to lock 
down the whole school are the doors locking, etc. The Middle School is working on gates and 
fencing. Chief Miller will be going to the next school board meeting to talk about all of this and 
to stress to them that we need to take this seriously. He and Troy have made it their goal to make 
this happen. 

Council President Reed asked if any of the schools are in this situation because of the way they 
were built originally, where they can't take precautions? 

Chief Miller replied sure, there are limitations, but we've found ways that help with those 
limitations like the gates and the fencing going down the breezeway. They've gone above and 
beyond to look at better ways. Troy, himself, the maintenance people, the superintendent, and 

City Council minutes December 3, 2018 
2 



the principal for each school have done a walk around at each school and they note things they 
see, and they are actually getting fixed right away. 

Councilor Kessi asked what schools are the weapons calls from, are they the upper grades? 

Chief Miller replied somewhere at Petersen. 

Councilor Kessi asked is Troy at the High School too? 

Chief Miller replied yes, about 60% of his time is at the High School. 

Councilor Kessi asked Nationwide, is that where the majority of shootings happen, in High 
School? 

Chief Miller replied its kind-of cut across the board where those happen, there's no way to say 
that it's going to happen at a High School. Nowadays, it's more like, where is it going to 
happen? At a theatre, a shopping center, a hospital? 

Councilor Greisen commented that a shooter is not always a student. 

Chief Miller replied correct. When you study this, which he's done a lot of studying on active 
shooters, and active shooters have a mindset, they have a plan, and they're going to execute it, so 
they already have the upper hand on us. Most active shootings take 3 minutes and it's over, and 
that's hard to respond to. That's why you see us pushing why we need a guard at every school. 
You have 2500 kids spread out at 4 schools, it's hard to be there, but you have to do your best 
and he thinks we do that. We have plans for all of those schools, we've trained in all of those 
schools, and we've never had an incident that we haven't been able to contain. They have some 
great officers that work for this department that are highly trained and take it seriously. When 
they do the training for the schools, they try to do it when nobody is around. They bring up 
things that SS Command doesn't even think about and they make changes. With Troy having his 
SWAT experience it's like having the best of the best you can have in there. Every officer from 
Scappoose Police Department that's going to respond is highly trained. 

Councilor Greisen commented that Troy has gone above and beyond and she wants to thank him 
personally and she feels like in his career it's perfect timing when he can say that he loves what 
he does, and shows up doing what he loves every day, that's the person you want in this position. 
He's very dedicated, he does not take it lightly, and he holds that responsibility very highly. 
Would you find it beneficial to follow-up the encouragement of radios and other devices or 
trainings that we attend the budget meeting for the school district to make sure that they are 
following up? 

Chief Miller replied sure, every bit of showing that you are behind it will help. 

Councilor Greisen replied in regard to school trainings, is there anything on the calendar to 
follow up in different buildings with staff on these trainings? 

City Council minutes December 3, 2018 
3 



Chief Miller replied yes, Troy is working on that with Otto Petersen and Grant Watts for their 
next in-service day. They're going to do them separate because of the way their classes are, and 
they're going to have a make-up day to catch it again if you weren't able to make it; he feels it 
should be mandatory, it's your job to know this. 

Councilor Greisen replied, as an educator, your responsibility is to those students. 

Chief Miller replied if you go into a middle school or high school, you'll see a clip board with I 
Love You Guys protocol, they are all laminated and on the back they have a class roster of who's 
supposed to be in their class. He taught them that every 15 minutes when they get to a location, 
they take class attendance and document the time. That's part of the training. 

Councilor Greisen stated that Chief Miller mentioned that certain buildings aren't staying on top 
oflockdown practice. Is there some sort of follow-up or lock down schedule to hold those 
buildings accountable, or are we just trusting at this point, or saying the expectation is that you 
do this once every 8 weeks, or once a month, or have we verbalized that to them? 

Chief Miller replied yes, we have verbalized that to them and that's the nice thing about having 
Troy there working at the schools because he's right there to say hey, let's get this done. He 
does a good job of it; like with the reunification kits, he was able to say where are these, let's get 
these ordered. Troy went right in, got it handled, and they're on the way as we speak. 

Councilor Greisen replied it's not that it's a priority it's just another thing to stay on top of and 
she's so glad that Troy's there to help manage that. She was already going to be in attendance at 
the next school board meeting, so if there's anything that she can do to help them push this 
through or to communicate this, please let her know. 

Chief Miller thanked Councilor Greisen. 

Mayor Burge thanked Chief Miller for the presentation, and asked Chief to thank Troy for all of 
his hard work as well. 

Adjournment 

Mayor Burge adjourned the Work Session at 6:50 p.m. 

Mayor Scott Burge 
Attest: 

Office Administrator, Kimberly Mann 

City Council minutes December 3, 2018 
4 



Call to Order 

MONDAY, DECEMBER 3, 2018 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Regular meeting 7:00 p.m. 
Scappoose Council Chambers 
33568 East Columbia A venue 

Mayor Burge called the City Council meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 
Scott Burge 
MarkReed 
Patrick Kessi 
Megan Greisen 
Josh Poling 

Mayor 
Council President 
Councilor 
Councilor 
Councilor 

Michael Sykes 
Kim Mann 
Elizabeth Happala 

City Manager 
Office Administrator 
CDC Administrator 

Peter Watts Legal Counsel Press: Courtney Vaughn, Spotlight 

Approval of the Agenda 

Councilor President Reed moved, and Councilor Greisen seconded the motion to approve the 
agenda. Motion passed (5-0). Mayor Burge, aye; Council President Reed, aye; Councilor Kessi, 
aye; Councilor Greisen, aye: and Councilor Poling, aye. 

Public Comments 

Annie Christensen of St. Helens, Oregon and Paulette Lichatowich of Columbia City, Oregon 
both came up to speak together. Annie attended the Port meeting on Wednesday and there's a 
proposal to change the commodity that the Port is transporting and she's here because she's 
concerned about the process and what she heard when at the meeting. She heard 3 different 
comments while there; concerns about traffic, concerns about the environment and emergency 
responses, and concerns about jobs. She heard lots of misinformation, confusion, and lack of 
solid clarity on all 3 of those topics. She wants to talk about changing the API, the density of the 
commodity that's being moved. The Port asked Global to clarify about Tarsans Oil and what 
API it was and there was not a clear answer because it's a very complicated process. She doesn't 
know that much about it but she does have a handout from a retired science teacher who is not 
the definitive person who we should rely on with such a big decision, but she does think we need 
some very clear facts about what it is we're talking about, what the process is, what happens in 
the trains as they go along in time. Her understanding is the ingredients that are added to the 
thick oil make it thinner so they can put it in the cars, but then it begins to evaporate out in the 
cars making a more volatile, flammable gas at the top, and a heavier, less liquid oil at the bottom 
that could sink if it ended up in the river. She also heard talk about people wanting jobs and she 
thought, Global is asking for increased flexibility in this density of the commodity that they want 
to move; they say they don't have anybody who might move it but in the event that somebody 
wanted to transport something they want to be more flexible and have this number changed, but 

1 
City Council minutes December 3, 2018 

1



how does that result in any jobs at all? The Mayor of Scappoose and St. Helens spoke about 
traffic at the meeting. A couple years ago there were quite a few oil trains coming through and 
we saw the impact that the mile-long trains had in Scappoose and St. Helens. Now they're 
talking about a mile and a half long trains. She thought the trains had a speed limit of 25mph, 
the railroad is now saying the speed limit will be lOmph; that means it's going to take 4 times 
longer for the trains to cross the intersection. There's a lot of development on this side of town, 
including the Cascade Tissue trucks and OMIC. With OMIC, we're talking about 1400 students 
coming here. We have a lot of stuff going on in Scappoose and the impact of these trains seems 
very worrisome. There's also the Emergency Responders. There was a house fire a few years 
ago and it took 6 minutes for the fire engines to arrive. It's said that when you're having a heart 
attack every minute of delay increases your chances of dying by 10%, so if were talking about 4 
times longer intersections being closed, what does that mean for emergency responders when 
every second counts? The Port had planned on voting on Wednesday, but it was delayed until 
next Wednesday, December 12th. What about the concerns from citizens, what about our input? 
We're the ones that are going to bear the brunt of whatever decisions are made. What Global is 
saying is that they don't even have a plan, they just want increased flexibility. Why would we 
allow potential damage to our entire rail line for someone wanting something when they don't 
even really know what it is? Annie wants to know if the City Council for Scappoose and St. 
Helens is getting involved? Can the Council ask the Port to slow down their decision, so they 
can answer the questions from the citizens first? Annie thanked us and gave out flyers to 
everyone. 

Legal Counsel Peter Watts asked Annie to give a copy to the clerk for our records. 

Mayor Burge and Council thanked Annie Christensen for her statement. 

Paulette Lichatowich of Columbia City thanked Mayor Burge for speaking up for Columbia 
County at the November 23th Port Commission Meeting. The decision to approve the request by 
Global Partners could have serious consequences for Scappoose. You asked the Port to wait and 
include the effected cities and their decisions. Global Partners has requested a change in the type 
of products that it will ship out of Port Westward and they requested that the API weight 
restriction be removed from their lease. They indicated that the unit train links will increase to 
1.5 miles from 1 mile or 150 rail cars. The health and safety risks caused by the increase in the 
number of trains and the risk associated with the heavier crude oil should be more fully known 
by the public. The environmental risk plus heavier oil poses a toxic inhalation hazard. The 
parties involved have not paused to obtain expertise in describing the allowable products. 
Heavier crude oils are diluted with additives to keep them liquid. Toxic fumes from the heavy 
crude with additives could put first responders and people close to it at extreme risk. It's 
important the City Council and Mayors communicate to the Port that all trains carrying heavy or 
light oil pose safety and environmental risk for which the local communities are not prepared. 
The Port should slow down, consider these issues, and involve DEQ in evaluating the risks rather 
than relying on Global' sown experts. In 2012 train derailments, explosive burning rail cars, 
environmental concerns, and public health risks were not known about these unit trains carrying 
crude oil. We now know more but not enough to rush ahead with a decision on December 12th. 
Another reason for concern is OMIC investors may see the trains as a negative interference with 
their business. She's requesting that we ask the Port to delay their decision on Global' s 
amended lease until City Government, including City Council, can understand the proposal. The 
public should be included as well and holding a public hearing would be a more appropriate and 
transparent way to move forward. 

2 
City Council minutes December 3, 2018 



Mayor Burge and Council thanked Paulette Lichatowich for her statement. 

Nancy Ward of Scappoose, Oregon is also here to talk about the crude oil trains. She thanked 
Mayor Burge for being at the meeting on Wednesday. She said that the people who spoke after 
he left were not heard. He was heard, they were not. This puts a big burden on his shoulders. 
They are hoping that Mayor Burge and Mayor Scholl will be the people's voice because she feels 
like the people don't have a voice. She says they are elected officials, but you wouldn't know it. 
This is a city where she lives and wants to feel safe. The city has blossomed, there are a lot of 
wonderful things coming, but this isn't one of them. Crude oil is not one of our finer moments. 
Who among us is going to be strong enough to say no? You need to say no to the Port and you 
need to say no to Global. It's very specific and its very simple, and the answer is no. She is 
asking everyone to say no to the crude oil coming into Scappoose. 

Mayor Burge and Council thanked Nancy Ward for her statement. 

Greg Pettit of Warren, Oregon has issues with the oil trains and the process the Port used. He 
thinks it was very non-transparent and it appeared to be intended to avoid as much public 
scrutiny of this decision to change this agreement as possible. The notice was sent out right after 
the election, most people didn't even know it was on the agenda, it was not properly noticed. It 
did not include the deleted language, so you were unable to compare the new language with the 
old language, and the space was left blank regarding the API and density requirements. The Port 
was only interested in hearing technical information from Global, there were a lot of technical 
questions later and the only people that would answer those questions were representatives from 
Global, so it was a very one-sided presentation of the scientific data supporting this. He 
believes there are a lot of specific technical questions that need answers before this is ever taken 
up and considered because it's going to have a tremendous impact and the county needs to be 
strategic about what its long-term plan is. He's looked at the demographics of Columbia County 
and our population is growing, despite the loss of jobs, so we have to plan for what the future of 
Columbia County is going to be and having a bunch of mile-and-a-half long oil trains running 
through an already congested city and exacerbating that problem would be a really poor long 
term decision for the residents in this county. lfwe did that and didn't really understand the 
consequences of this decision, the effect of that action could result in a lot of very unhappy 
people. 

Mayor Burge and Council thanked Greg Pettit for coming in. 

Brady Preheim of St. Helens thanked Mayor Burge and City Manager Michael Sykes for 
attending the Port Commission meeting. He thinks a very important thing they mentioned at the 
meeting was the rail study. He says it's critical that we put whatever pressure we can on the Port 
to delay their decision until a proper rail study is done. Over 3000 oil spills take place every 
year in Oregon, and the DEQ gets 10-18 calls per day. There have been more oil spills in the last 
2 years in Oregon than in the last 35 years; those are some significant numbers. Columbia 
County has invested $90 million dollars at Port Westward for 22 jobs. If we had taken that $90 
million and put it in a CD at 4% a year, we could pay all 22 of those people $70,000 a year for 
that entire time, and still have $1.5 million extra left to spend on whatever we wanted. This has 
not been a good investment - it's not going to be a good investment. Our future lies in high-tech, 
like OMIC, not in fossil fuels. There's a perception that this county is a poor county and we 
should take whatever crap comes along that nobody else wants. That's a false perception. We 

3 
City Council minutes December 3, 2018 



are number 3 (or 5, depending on how you look at it) in the State as far as wealthiest counties. 
We are not a poor county that has to settle for ancient technology involving fossil fuels. Our 
future is not this. Anyone that wants to continue investing in this does not have the correct 
vision that we need to have for this county. The cleanup company is a cooperative owned by the 
oil companies, and the President of their board is from Global Partners. When asked about this 
question specifically, the gentlemen from the Columbia River cooperative said no, we are not 
owned by Global Partners. That is a lie. All 21 members of the cooperative own the 
cooperative. This gives Global a very nice advantage in that they can deduct the money that they 
spend by giving to this non-profit because they are a non-profit cooperative, and when there's a 
wreck they get to deduct the entire cost if there were to be an accident. The cleanup on average 
cleans 10-12% of the oil that's spilled. He requests that Council put whatever pressure they can 
on the Port to delay this decision, to tum down the lease agreement with Global Partners and the 
Port until a lot more research can be done. 

Mayor Burge and Council thanked Brady Preheim for coming in. 

Consent Agenda - November 5, 2018 Work Session minutes and November 5, 2018 City 
Council meeting minutes 

Council President Reed moved, and Councilor Greisen seconded the motion to approve the 
Consent Agenda~ November 5, 2018 City Council Work Session and November 5, 2018 City 
Council meeting minutes. Motion passed (5-0). Mayor Burge, aye; Council President Reed, aye; 
Councilor Kessi, aye; Councilor Greisen, aye; and Councilor Poling, aye. 

Presentation to West Coast Shoe Company 

Mayor Burge read the Proclamation to West Coast Shoe Company. The Proclamation 
recognizes the 1ooth Anniversary of West Coast Shoe Company and designates December 5th and 
6th 2018 as West Coast Shoe Company Days. The Mayor presented Bruce Shoemaker with a key 
to the city and thanked him for providing jobs in our community. Mr. Shoemaker thanked 
Mayor Burge and invited everyone to come to their Open House on Wednesday, December 5th 
and for their Customer Appreciation Day on Thursday, December 6th. 

Presentation to Travis Killens 

Officer Travis Killens has been an exceptional officer for the Scappoose Police Department. 
Travis has grown tremendously from the time he started as a Reserve until now. When you ask 
for an Officer, you ask for someone who is well-rounded and versed in a lot of different things, 
and Travis is one of those Officers. He not only does Ordinances, Traffic, and Investigations, he 
is very proactive, and he's also part of the community; this week he's getting training through 
ODOT to be a truck inspector. Tonight, we're here to recognize Travis for his actions on 
September 3rd. He was on duty that night monitoring all the channels when he heard of a house 
fire over the radio. He self-dispatched himself to the fire. When he got there, he saw that there 
were several people still there. He assessed the situation, made contact, and saw that there were 
still some citizens inside the house, so he came up with an active plan to get those people away 
from the fire. So tonight they are commending him for going above and beyond the call of duty 
on September 3rd, 2018. Chief Miller presented the award to Officer Travis Killens. 

Mayor Burge thanked Travis for his exceptional work. 

4 
City Council minutes December 3, 2018 



New Business 

Resolution 18-26-Abstract Results of the November 6, 2018 Election 

City Manager Michael Sykes went over the results of the 2018 Election. Every year we get a 
copy of an abstract from the Columbia County Clerk and it is the Council's responsibility to 
approve it. Basically, it certifies that Council agrees with the official results of the election. On 
the back page it lists the election results of the Mayor position and the 3 Council positions. 

Councilor Poling moved, Councilor Kessi seconded the motion to approve Resolution 18-26, 
Abstract Results of the November 6, 2018 Election. Motion passed (5-0). Mayor Burge, aye; 
Council President Reed, aye; Councilor Kessi, aye; Councilor Greisen, aye; and Councilor 
Poling, aye. 

Discussion on December 17th City Council Meeting Cancelled, 2018 Holiday Dinner at 
Warren Country Inn 

City Manager Sykes spoke about the City's Employee Appreciation Dinner which will be on 
Monday, December 17th from 6-8 pm at The Warren Country Inn. We tried to find a facility in 
Scappoose, but it just wasn't possible. We thought Warren Country Inn would be perfect and we 
hope everyone can make it so please RSVP. 

Announcements ~information only 

Calendar 

Mayor Burge went over the calendar. 

City Manager, Police Chief, Councilors, and Mayor 

City Manager Sykes mentioned that City Staff will be holding a pre-application conference with 
PCC on January 3rd to discuss their site development review application for their campus in 
Scappoose, which he is really excited about. They're also holding a pre-application conference 
on December 11th for a proposed annexation zone change for a 1.59-acre parcel which would be 
our first venture into cottage housing. He handed out a questionnaire on Affordable Housing for 
each Council Member to fill out and send back to City Planner Laurie Oliver. The Mayor is 
appointing an Advisory Committee in January; he is recommending Casey Mitchell from 
Community Action to be on the Committee as well as Bill Blank from the Planning Commission. 
We are about 3 weeks away from finishing Chief Concomly Park; plus, they are excited about 
going to Wesco on Wednesday. He and Mayor Burge did attend the Port Meetings regarding the 
oil trains and they also met with the Port this morning to talk about some of the issues. Lastly, 
he thanked Council President Mark Reed for everything he's done and said it's been a pleasure 
working with him for the last 3-1/2 years and he hopes he continues to stay involved with the 
City. 

Chief Miller said Donut Day starts this Saturday at 6am at Scappoose Middle School and runs 
until they are out of Krispy Kreme donuts. He also thanked Mark for his service to the City and 

City Council minutes December 3, 2018 
5 



as a firefighter and he says he knows that just because he's not going to be on City Council 
anymore, he knows Mark will still be involved with something in the City because that's the type 
of person Mark is, and he can't wait to see what that will be. 

Councilor Poling talked about the safety bars and the fencing going up at the schools and he 
thinks that's great that they are doing that. He thanked Council President Reed and said he hopes 
he enjoys the time with his family and wishes him good things moving forward. 

Councilor Kessi spoke about the Christmas Tree Lighting at Heritage Park; it was a good turnout 
this year and they did a really good job with the lights and the event. The choir from Scappoose 
High School was there this year. They had a traffic committee meeting today and they went over 
questions, concerns, and suggestions they've received from citizens and sometimes solutions 
take time, but they are tracking different concerns that have come up and working on solutions to 
them. 

Councilor Greisen thanked Mark Reed and told him good luck. The biggest thing for her is the 
connection with the school district and she thinks their persistence and Troy's presence is really 
sending a message and she appreciates that as a parent and an educator, and she thinks people are 
now more open for employees at the school district to come for city support because we've held 
up our end of the bargain and we take our responsibility seriously when it comes to student 
safety, so thank you. 

Council President Reed spoke about being on the fence about running again for Council, he had 
decided that regardless of whatever the outcome was, he would be happy with it, and he is. He 
remembers one of the issues they dealt with when he started on Council was the coal trains and 
some of the numbers that came up were the same as the numbers that came up tonight and these 
are disturbing numbers. As a previous paramedic and firefighter, it is frustrating to have to wait 
for a train to go by when you are trying to get somewhere to help someone and that issue appears 
to have not changed at all; in fact, it seems to be getting worse. There were issues that none of 
them wanted to touch so he wishes the Council good luck with this issue that's coming up with 
the trains and he hopes they can come up with a resolution. He says it's been fun serving on the 
Council and now he's going to go have some fun. 

Mayor Burge thanked Mark and said the person that will be replacing him is on our Budget 
Committee and that means we will have a vacancy on the Budget Committee, so he would like to 
offer Mark that position, if he's interested; but he doesn't have to answer now. This way he can 
still stay involved with the City. Mark said he will consider it. 

Mayor Burge said they did meet with the Port today and they did express concerns, it's been the 
same concerns they've had with the coal trains when it was any length of trains. About 19 years 
ago the City had some foresight about the potentiality of the rail being used again (more than it 
was), and they went through a process and developed something unique from the rail study that 
the City of Scappoose created. If you look at roads that were once crossing the railroad and 
roads that are now crossing the railroad, all that came from that study. Crown Zellerbach Road, 
Havlik Road, Santosh Road being closed, that was all part of that study too. They did that study 

City Council minutes December 3, 2018 
6 



and it accomplished a lot. At the Port Meeting he was trying to tell them we need to go back and 
revisit this study because it's now 2018 (it was published in 2002). The Council made it a goal 
to do a renewed look at this because there's a continued potentiality of more trains and longer 
trains and he thinks having a plan that works and the brilliance of that plan was the staff changed 
over at ODOT Rail or the railroad and they would balk at something when you'd present them 
with a plan, they'd say, "Oh, we already agreed to this." So, having that mutual conversation is 
important and that's what he and Mayor Scholl were trying to impress on the Port. The mutual 
conversation was about the issues surrounding rail and what the impacts are and in a lot of ways, 
the commodity on the train doesn't matter as much as the impact it's going to have through the 
community. Twelve-minute blockage time is huge for emergency responders. Some of the 
discussions he's had with the Port were: Wouldn't it be great if our Police Department and Fire 
Department could have real time train locations? We're not publicly putting that out, just to our 
emergency responders so they could plan, knowing where that train is on the track. One issue 
the Port brought up is people crossing the railroad where there's not crossings, so they're talking 
about putting up fences along the railroad to stop people from crossing, which is technically 
trespassing, crossing the rail where they're not supposed to. A few years ago, we had a fatality 
at one of the rails so one thing is to try and keep people away from the train when its coming. 
Our City engineer brought up ADA issues; sidewalks are broken, ADA ramps are not compliant, 
and pedestrian crossings that cross the railroad need improvement. They are all in violation of 
the ADA. ODOT Rail or the Railroad is responsible because the sidewalks and crossings are on 
their property, not ours. They are going to bring that up at the meeting. How do we direct 
people safely to where they need to go? That could be a trail or a fence along the way, or a 
walking path. It was a good meeting for people who don't want the oil; Mayor Burge thinks they 
will pass it. He thinks we should work on the safety issues in our area and through St. Helens. 
Our first step is to make sure it's safe and our community stays safe. His goal is to make it as 
safe a place as possible and that's the best we can hope for, the law doesn't allow for anything 
else. 

City Manager Sykes replied you might want to clarify where the trail and the fence would go; on 
the far East side from the High School to Heritage Park, or where? 

Mayor Burge replied that way people can walk on the East side from the High School to 
Heritage Park without having to cross the train tracks at all. The fence would be on that side, but 
it would discourage people from either side going across the rail. Back in 2001 we had 
construction plans for a sidewalk that went from High School Way to Havlik to Fred Meyer. We 
had construction plans, we had a grant, we had it secured, then ODOT showed up and said if you 
do that, we'll have you thrown in jail Mr. City Manager, so that project ceased. We have in the 
past attempted to do things that enhanced the community in that area. He thinks the sidewalks 
throughout the town is a big issue and that will be our next goal. 

Council President Reed stated that Chief Miller talked about people saying, "This is Scappoose, 
this won't happen here." A few years ago, there was a catastrophic train accident that happened 
around Cornelius Pass which involved our community and our responders are the ones that had 
to respond to that. So, his point is: it can happen here, it has happened here. 

City Council minutes December 3, 2018 
7 



Mayor Burge replied that's why we are making sure that everyone in the City is heard; our police 
department is heard, our fire department is heard, it is so important that they are open to 
communication. 

City Manager Sykes replied the Port's existing lease gives them the ability to operate 38 trains a 
month now, regardless of if they change anything, and it's with the higher API oil which is more 
combustible. It would be nice to have more information. What we were told is by lowering the 
API it allows them to move a safer product that's heavier-ifthat's true or not, he doesn't know, 
- but if they don't change the API, the oil trains can still use the tracks anyway. They should be 
meeting with the Rail and the Port on a regular basis and have a lot more dialogue. Until this last 
meeting, they weren't sure who to contact at the Rail Company, which made it very difficult, but 
hopefully now they can raise the level of awareness with the railroads about some of the issues 
that are significant. They will be meeting with the Railroad in a couple of weeks. 

Councilor Greisen asked ifthat will take place before the December 12th meeting? 

Mayor Burge replied no. 

A citizen from the audience asked Mayor Burge who did he meet with at the Port? 

Mayor Burge replied the Executive Director and Commissioner Erickson. 

Mayor Burge asked if there were any more questions or comments. 

Adjournment 

Mayor Burge adjourned the meeting at 7:50 p.m. 

Mayor Scott Burge 

Attest: 

Office Administrator, Kimberly Mann 

8 
City Council minutes December 3, 2018 



City of Scappoose 

Council Action & Status Report 

Date Submitted: December 21, 2018 

Agenda Date Requested: January 7, 2019 

To: Scappoose City Council 

Through: Planning Commission 

From: 

Subject: 

Type of Action Requested: 

Resolution 

Laurie Oliver, CFM, Planning Department 
Supervisor 

Proposed amendments to Scappoose 
Development Code Chapters 17.62, 17.68, 
17.69, 17.70, and the addition of a new 
Chapter, 17.126, to set standards for food carts 

[ x ] Ordinance [ 

[ 

] 

] Formal Action [ ] Report Only 

Issue: 
The City of Scappoose proposes the addition of a new chapter to the 
Development Code, Chapter 17.126 - Food Cart Pod Permits. In support of the 
new chapter, the following existing chapters are also proposed to be amended; 

• Chapters 17.62 -General Commercial (C) and 17.68- Expanded 
Commercial (EC) to add food cart pods as a permitted use. 

• Chapters 17 .69-Public Use Airport (PUA) and 17. 70-Ught Industrial (LI) to 
add food cart pods as a conditional use. 

• Chapter 17 .162 - Procedures for Decision Making--Quasi-Judicial to clarify 
the approval process for food cart pod permits. 

Analysis: 
An identified City Council goal for FY18-19 was to explore a food cart 

ordinance since the only method the City currently has to allow food carts is 
through the issuance of a Temporary Use Permit, which is only good for 90-days, 
is intended to celebrate a specific season or event (e.g., a Christmas tree stand 
or fireworks stand), does not have development standards, and is not renewable 
during the calendar year it is issued in. 

4

1



City staff kicked off the food cart ordinance discussion during July 2018 with an 
introductory work session on the topic with City Council. Planning Department 
staff drafted a new development code chapter, Chapter 17.126 -Food Cart Pod 
Permits, and held a second work session with Council in September 2018 in 
order to gain feedback on the draft development code language. 

Some of the main topics of discussion during work session #2 involved: 
• Where should food carts be allowed? 
• Utility considerations 
• Parking considerations 
• Site Design Standards 
• Review type and length of approval 

Based on feedback received during the September work session, as well as 
input from the Economic Development Committee members, Planning 
Department staff revised the draft development code language and brought back 
the amended draft for a third and final work session with Council in early 
November 2018. 

The proposed amendments to the Development Code are intended to allow 
individual entrepreneurship at a small scale and to provide unique eating 
establishments to the public, while ensuring that food carts are conducted as 
lawful uses and in a manner that is not detrimental or disruptive in terms of 
appearance or operation to neighboring properties and residents. 

The Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding this proposal on 
December 13, 2018, and unanimously recommended approval by the City 
Council based on the findings of fact contained in the Planning Commission staff 
report dated December 6, 2018. 

Options: 
1. Adopt proposed Ordinance 877, thereby accepting the findings in the DCTA2-

18 Planning Commission staff report dated December 6, 2018. 

2. Adopt findings demonstrating that the application does not comply with the 
Scappoose Municipal Code and deny the application. 

Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Council adopt the Ordinance as 
presented. 

Suggested Motion: I move that Council adopt Ordinance 877 as presented. 

Please find attached: 
Ordinance 877 with exhibits: 

• Exhibit A- Proposed Scappoose Municipal Code amendments 
• Exhibit B - Planning Commission staff report, dated December 6, 2018 

2



ORDINANCE NO. 877 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTERS 17.62, 17.68.17.69, 17.70, AND 17.162 AND 
ADDING A NEW CHAPTER, 17.126- FOOD CART POD PERMITS TO THE 

SCAPPOOSE MUNICIPAL CODE 

WHEREAS, an identified Scappoose City Council goal for FY18-19 was to explore a 
food cart ordinance since the only method the City currently has to allow food carts is through 
the issuance of a Temporary Use Permit, which is only good for 90-days, is intended to celebrate 
a specific season or event, does not have development standards, and is not renewable during the 

/ 

calendar year it is issued in; and 

WHEREAS, three public City Council work s.C"ssions 'Yere held on the topic of food 
carts in order to gain feedback on setting appropria standards to allow food carts to operate on 
a year-round basis; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendmeif~ .. e Scappoose Municipifl Code are intended to 
allow individual entrepreneurship at a small scale' "'";$~, •. to pro "de unique eating establishments to 
the public, while ensuring that food carts are condu~?~ ' 'I uses and in a manner that is not 

/, '>, :/, ;,;f':,;, 
detrimental or disruptive in terms of appearance or ope neighboring properties and 
residents; and 

application; and 

WHEREAS, 
13, 2018 and the City 
22, 2019; now therefore, 

as required by law for this 

mmission held a hearing on the application on December 
earing on the application on January 7, 2019 and January 

Section 1. ···.·· The Scappoos~ Munic1pg.;;~.ode is hereby amended as indicated in Exhibit A, 
attached hereto and hereby incoi:porated

0

b¥reference. 

Section 2. The City of Scappoose adopts the findings and conclusions contained in the staff 
report dated December 6, 2018;atfached to this ordinance as Exhibit B and hereby incoi:porated 
by reference, as the basis 1n Support of this ordinance. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council this 22nd day of January 2019 and signed by the 
Mayor and City Recorder in authentication of its passage. 

First Reading: January 7, 2019 
Second Reading: 

Page 1 - ORDINANCE NO. 877 

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE, OREGON 

Scott Burge, Mayor 

3



Susan M. Reeves, MMC 
City Recorder 

Page 2 - ORDINANCE NO. 877 4



Draft of new proposed chapter of the Scappoose Development Code. Text has not been 
double underlined since it is all new. 

Sections: 

Chapter 1 7 .126 

FOOD CART POD PERMIT 

17.126.010 Purpose 
17.126.020 Applicability and Exemptions 
17.126.030 Permit Procedures 
17.126.040 Food Cart Pod Standards 
17.126.050 Food Cart Standards 
17.126.060 Food Cart Pod Modification 
17.126.070 Submittal Requirements 
17.126.080 Conditions of Approval 
17.126.090 Approval Period 
17.126.120 Grounds for Revocation 

17.126.010 Purpose. Mobile food units, which are defined in OAR 333-150-0000 
as "any vehicle that is self-propelled or that can be pulled or pushed down a 
sidewalk, street, highway or waterway, on which food is prepared, processed or 
converted or which is used in selling and dispensing food to the ultimate 
consumer", can provide opportunities to enliven under-utilized parking lots, allow 
individual entrepreneurship at a small scale, and provide unique eating 
establishments for the public. The purpose of this chapter is to set standards to 
permit mobile food units, or "food carts" on a long-term basis. As with temporary 
uses, permanent site improvements may not be required; however, the standards 
and permit processes of this section are intended to ensure that food carts are 
conducted as lawful uses and in a manner that is not detrimental or disruptive in 
terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties and residents. 

17.126.020 Applicability and Exemptions. 
A. Applicability. 

1. This chapter is not applicable to temporary uses which are permitted 
through the Temporary Use Permit procedures of Chapter 17.128. 
2. For the purposes of this chapter, the term "food cart" will be used 
interchangeably with "mobile food unit". "Food cart pod" refers to a site 
containing one or more food carts and associated amenities on private property. 
3. The provisions of this chapter apply to all food carts within the City, 
whether it is a single food cart, or multiple carts in a pod. 

4. Food carts are not permitted to travel to different sites throughout the City 
and shall only be allowed through an approved permit issued in conformance 

with this chapter. 

B. Exemptions. The following are exempt from the provisions of this chapter: 
1. Locations where food carts are stored when not in operation are exempt 

5



from the provisions of this section; however, the storage of commercial 
vehicles or trailers may be subject to other requirements of the Scappoose 
Municipal Code. 
2. Food carts that are operated as part of an approved farmer's market or 
allowed under a special event permit are exempt. 

17.126.030 Permit Procedures. Food cart pod permits will be processed in accordance 
with Chapter 17 .162, as follows: 
A. Type I. Up to two carts on one site with no accessory structures other than trash 

cans and portable accessory items, such as picnic tables, may be reviewed for 
compliance with this chapter and administratively approved by the Planner. 

1. The Planner shall make findings of fact based on evidence provided by the 
applicant demonstrating that all of the applicable criteria for food cart pods and 
individual food carts has been satisfied. 

B. Type II. Three or more carts on one site and/or accessory structures constructed in 
accordance with 17.126.040(B) may be reviewed in accordance with this chapter, 
and applicable chapters of the Scappoose Municipal Code and the Planning 
Commission shall be the approval body. 
1. The Planning Commission shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny an 

application for a Type II Food Cart Pod Permit. The decision to approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny an application for a Type II Food Cart Pod 
Permit shall be made by the Planning Commission upon findings of whether or 
not the proposed use: 

a. Is in conformance with the standards contained in this chapter and any 
other applicable chapters, and 

b. Is undertaken in a manner that is not detrimental nor disruptive in 
terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties, 
businesses and/or residents. 

17.126.040 Food Cart Pod Standards. A property containing one or more food carts 
shall be maintained in a clean and orderly condition. Only those things authorized by 
the permit and shown on the site plan may be stored on the property. The following 
standards apply to food cart pod sites: 
A. Zoning. Food cart pods are not permitted in special flood hazard areas or in 

residential zones but are permitted in zones that allow for eating and drinking 
establishments either outright or through conditional use approval. In the Light 
Industrial, LI and Public Use Airport, PUA zoning districts, Food Cart Pod Permit 
approval is subject to Chapter 17 .130 - Conditional Use. 

B. Accessory Items and Structures. Trash and recycling receptacles for customer use 
shall be maintained no more than ten (10) feet from food carts, at a rate of one trash 
and one recycling receptacle for every two food carts. Portable accessory items, such 
as picnic tables, are permitted. With Planning Commission approval, new accessory 
structures may be constructed, as follows: 

1. A maximum of two restroom structures, provided that the combined square 
footage does not exceed two hundred (200); 

2 6



2. A maximum of two storage buildings, provided that the combined square 
footage does not exceed two hundred (200); 

3. One trash enclosure; 

4. Outdoor seating areas, which may have roofs, floors, and railings, but no 
walls (e.g., decks, picnic shelters, pavilions), provided that the square footage 
does not exceed two hundred (200) square feet per food cart and that no single 
structure exceeds two thousand (2000) square feet. Any covered structure 
provided shall meet current Oregon Structural Specialty Code and be permanently 
attached to the ground; 

5. A food cart pod site with 3 or more food carts shall provide covered seating 
and restrooms on site. 

C. Signs. Type I approval: Signs are restricted to portable signs only, permitted 
pursuant to Chapter 17.114. Type II approval: Signs are permitted pursuant to Chapter 
17 .114. Signage painted on food carts is permitted. 

D. Minimum Setbacks and Separation Distance. All food carts on the site shall be 
located a minimum of: 

1. Five ( 5) feet from any structure or other food cart; 

2. Ten (10) feet from any front lot line; and 

3. Five (5) feet from any interior side or rear lot line, except if such lot line 
abuts a street the setback shall be ten (10) feet and if such lot line abuts a 
residential district the minimum setback shall be twenty (20) feet. In the 
downtown overlay, Chapter 17.80 governs required setbacks, however, the 
provisions of section E (Screening) still apply. 

4. Awnings and canopies may encroach into the required setback not more than 
36-inches, provided that the width of the setback is not reduced to less than three 
(3) feet. 

E. Screening. If the food cart pod is located less than twenty (20) feet from a 
residential zoning district, the residential property shall be screened from the food cart 
pod, which may be a portion of a property including the food cart, seating, queuing, 
etc., abutting the residential zoning district and may not necessarily extend to the 
shared property line. Required screening: 

1. May be provided by an existing, continuous, sight-obscuring structure, solid 
fence, or hedge; 

2. If new, shall be a continuous, sight-obscuring vegetative screen; or if fencing 
is utilized as screening, shall be continuous, sight-obscuring fencing made of 
wood or ornate metal. Chain-link fencing with slats shall not qualify as acceptable 
screening material; and 

3. Shall have a minimum height of six ( 6) feet. 

F. Setback from Vehicular and Pedestrian Use Areas. Windows and doors used for 
service to customers shall be located a minimum often (10) feet from loading areas, 
driveways, on-site circulation drives, and parking lot aisles, and a minimum of five (5) 
feet from bicycle parking spaces and walkways. 

3 7



G. Obstruction of Vehicular and Pedestrian Use Areas and Landscape Areas. No food 
cart or associated element, such as aboveground power cords, seating areas, trash 
receptacles, signs, and customer queuing areas, shall occupy bicycle parking spaces, 
loading areas, or walkways. Food carts and amenities shall not occupy landscaping 
areas approved as part of a prior design review or other land use application. However, 
occupying existing on-site automobile parking spaces is permitted, provided that such 
spaces are not simultaneously used for parking or required to meet minimum parking 
requirements on the site. 

H. Surfacing. All food carts shall be placed on a hard-surfaced area such as concrete 
or asphalt, and any associated parking, loading, and maneuvering areas for vehicles 
shall be on hard-surfaced areas. If new paved surface is added to a site to accommodate 
a cart, the parking area shall comply with applicable parking design standards 
contained in Chapter 17.106. 

I. Driveway Access. No new or modified driveway access is permitted, unless 
approved by the City Engineer, in accordance with this Chapter and other applicable 
sections of the Scappoose Municipal Code and the Public Works Design Standards. 

J. Intersection Sight Distance and Visual Clearance Areas. The food cart and any 
attachments, accessory items, or customer queuing areas shall comply with the 
intersection sight distance and visual clearance area requirements of the Scappoose 
Municipal Code Chapter 12.10 and Public Works Design Standards. 

K. Lighting. Outdoor lighting shall be required to maintain safety and for crime 
prevention, to be approved by the Chief of Police, if not already adequately provided 
by an existing use. All lighting on site shall be shielded so that it does not become a 
nuisance to neighboring properties. 

L. Utilities. To the extent that utilities are desired by the applicant or required by 
applicable regulations, food carts shall have self-contained utilities, or if on-site utility 
connections are proposed, such utilities shall be installed underground, except where 
prohibited by the utility district or company. 

M. Sanitation Facilities. Food cart pods shall ensure the availability of a restroom 
with hand washing facilities meeting the provisions of OAR 333-150-0000 for 
employees and customers. Portable restrooms and portable handwashing facilities are 
not permitted, unless the portable handwashing facilities provide hot running water 
meeting the provisions of OAR 333-150-0000. If portable restrooms and portable 
handwashing facilities are provided, they shall be screened from view with fencing or a 
solid vegetative screen, or a combination of the two, provided that the portable 
facilities are not visible from neighboring properties or public rights-of-way. The 
restrooms must either be on-site, within one-quarter mile or within 5 minutes walking 
distance and be available during the carts' hours of operation. Applicants shall provide 
the City with documentation that restrooms are available via the owners written 
permission for the utilization of facilities in an existing building. 

N. Sewage Disposal. Subsurface sewage disposal is prohibited. 

0. Vendor Parking. For any food cart pod requiring approval by the Planning 
Commission, vendor parking shall be provided in addition to the off-street parking 
requirements of Chapter 17.106 (Off-Street Parking and Loading Requirements) at the 

4 8



rate of one parking stall per food cart. Vendor parking may be satisfied by the 
provision of off-site shared parking agreements, when the off-site parking space used 
is surplus parking and not required parking for an existing use. 

P. Landscaping. Type II food cart pod permits are subject to Chapter 17.100-
Landscaping, Screening and Fencing. A portion of the landscaping required may be 
provided with attractive potted planters, provided they contribute to the aesthetics of 
the pod, provide effective screening, and are well maintained year-round. 

Q. Noise. Any noise generated on site is subject to Municipal Code Section 9.12.040 
- Offenses Related to Noise. 

17.126.050 Food Cart Standards. The following standards apply to each food cart on 
the site. 

A. Attachments. Attachments to the food cart, such as awnings or canopies, are 
permitted only if they are supported entirely by the cart and do not touch the ground. 
Neither the food cart nor any item relating to the cart shall lean against or hang from 
any structure or utility pole. No structure shall be attached to the food cart. 

B. Accessory Storage. Except as specifically allowed by 17.126.040(B), items relating 
to the food cart shall be stored in, on, or under the cart in an orderly manner, or out of 
sight. 

C. Interior Seating or Vending. Customer seating or vending inside a food cart is 
prohibited. 

D. Length of cart. Food carts shall not exceed 26 feet in length. 

E. Carts and their accessory items shall be kept in good repair and be maintained in a 
safe and clean condition. 

F. The following health and sanitation standards shall apply: 

1. Applicants shall provide wastewater/ graywater disposal documentation that 
indicates how the outputs will be stored (if applicable) and what wastewater/graywater 
disposal method will be used. The documentation shall indicate a proper disposal 
method that ensures fats, oils and grease do not enter the City's wastewater 
infrastructure. If the applicant intends to contract with a third party for 
wastewater/graywater disposal, a copy of the contract must be provided to the City 
within 15 days of receiving a permit. 

2. Non-stormwater discharges to the City's stormwater system are prohibited. 

G. Drive-Thru Service. Food carts shall not provide drive-thru service. 

H. Other Licenses/ Approvals Required. Besides meeting the requirements of this 
chapter, the operator of a food cart must have an active City business license, must 
comply with the current edition of the International Fire Code (I.F.C.) for Mobile Food 
Carts and receive an annual Fire District inspection and approval, and must receive 
approval and comply with the permit requirements of Columbia County Environmental 
Health Department. 

5 9



17.126.060 Food Cart Pod Modification. An application for a food cart pod 
modification shall be required when any of the following thresholds apply: 

A. Thresholds. 
1. Modification to an approved food cart pod site layout or design, which does not 

increase the number of food carts permitted on the site. 
2. Addition of non-permanent amenities to an approved food cart pod, such as but 

not limited to: picnic tables, awnings and landscaping. 
B. Procedure Type. 

1. The Type 1 procedure, as described in section 17.126.030(A) of this chapter 
shall apply to an application for a Food Cart Pod Modification when the 
thresholds above are met. 

2. In the event that a modification exceeds the above thresholds, a new Type II 
Food Cart Pod Permit shall be applied for. 

17.126.070 Submittal Requirements. An application for a Food Cart Pod Permit shall 
include the following: 
A. A completed application, including the property owners' signature, on a form 
provided by the Planning Department; and 

B. Information sufficient to address the standards in 17.126.040; and 

C. A site plan of the subject property drawn to scale and including: 

1. The lot lines, 
2. The location of existing structures, 
3. The proposed boundaries of the food cart pod. Within the boundaries of the 

food cart pod, the location of all food carts, seating areas, and any accessory 
items or structures, 

4. The proposed distance between the food cart pod and adjacent lot lines, as well 
as the proposed separation distance between individual carts and between carts 
and other on-site structures, 

5. The type and location of any proposed on-site utility connections for food carts, 
6. Number and location of food carts on site and individual square footage and 

length of each cart, 
7. Pictures or architectural elevations of proposed food cart(s), 
8. The location of existing and proposed loading areas, driveways, on-site 

circulation drives, parking lots aisles, parking lot lighting, bicycle and 
automobile parking spaces, and walkways, 

9. The orientation of service windows and doors on the food carts and location of 
customer queuing areas, 

10. The location of existing and proposed landscaping, 
11. The dimension, height, and location of proposed signs, 
12. Proof of the availability of restroom facilities for employees and customers that 

meet the requirements of OAR Chapter 333-150-0000, 
13. The method for disposing of wastewater and gray water, 
14. Written verification of approval by Columbia County Health Department, 
15. Written verification of approval by Scappoose Fire District, 
16. Traffic generation memo, meeting the requirements specified in SDC 

6 10



17 .154.030(S), 
17. A statement indicating any source of noise to be generated on the property and 

the method of mitigating the noise, and 
18. Any additional information that may be required by the Planning Department to 

properly evaluate the proposed site plan. 

17 .126.080 Conditions of Approval. The approval body may impose conditions upon the 
approval of a Food Cart Pod Permit to ensure compliance with the requirements of this 
chapter, and other applicable chapters of the development code, and to minimize adverse 
impacts created by the use on surrounding property and uses. These conditions may 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 

A. Limiting the hours, days, place and manner of operation; 
B. Requiring site and building design features which minimize environmental 

impacts such as noise, glare, and odor; 
C. Requiring additional building setbacks; 
D. Further limiting the building area and outdoor storage used by the food cart pod 

and restricting the location of the use on the site in relationship to adjoining uses; 
E. Designating the size, number, location and design of vehicle access points; 
F. Requiring landscaping, buffering and/or screening, of the food cart pod from 

adjoining uses and establishing standards for the continued maintenance of these 
improvements; 

G. Requiring storm drainage improvements, and surfacing of parking and loading 
areas; 

H. Limiting or setting standards for the location and intensity of outdoor lighting; 
I. Requiring and designating the size, height and location of fences and materials 

used for their construction; 
J. Requiring the protection and preservation of existing trees, and other vegetation, 

watercourses, slopes, wildlife habitat areas and drainage areas; 
K. Limiting the type and number of vehicles or equipment to be parked or stored on 

the site; 
L. Any other limitations which the approval authority considers to be necessary or 

desirable to make the use comply with this section; and 
M. Any limitations or conditions imposed by the City's service providers or the Fire 

Department. 

17 .126.090 Approval Period. 

A. Type I: A Type I Food Cart Pod Permit approval is valid for two years from the date 
of the final written decision, provided the approval is implemented within a one-year 
period. If not implemented within a one-year period, the approval will become void. At 
the end of any two-year period, the applicant may apply for another two-year permit by 
filing a new Type I or Type II application, as applicable. 

B. Type II: A Type II Food Cart Pod Permit approval does not expire, provided the 
approval is implemented within a one-year period. If not implemented within a one-year 
period, the approval will become void. 

7 11



C. "Implemented" means all necessary development permits shall be obtained and 
maintained for the approved development. 

17.126.120 Grounds for Revocation. The Planner or designee may: 

A. Revoke a Food Cart Pod Permit approval ifthe conditions of approval have not been 
or are not being complied with and the food cart pod is being conducted in a manner 
contrary to this chapter. 

B. The Planner or designee shall approve the use as it exists, revoke the Food Cart Pod 
Permit, or compel measures to be taken to ensure compatibility with the neighborhood 
and conformance with this section after reviewing a complaint. Complaints may be 
originated by the City of Scappoose or the public. Complaints from the public shall 
clearly state the objection to the food cart pod, such as: 

1. Generation of excessive traffic; 

2. Generation of excessive noise or litter; 

3. Other offensive activities not compatible with the surrounding area. 

C. Waiting Period for Reapplication. When a Food Cart Pod Permit has been revoked 
due to violation of these standards, a minimum period of one year shall elapse before 
another application for a food cart pod on the subject parcel will be considered. 

D. The Food Cart Pod Permit owner may appeal the Planner's decision to the Planning 
Commission. 

8 12



ORDINANCE NO. 877 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTERS 17.62, 17.68.17.69, 17.70, AND 17.162 AND 
ADDING A NEW CHAPTER, 17.126- FOOD CART POD PERMITS TO THE 

SCAPPOOSE MUNICIPAL CODE 

WHEREAS, an identified Scappoose City Council goal for FY18-19 was to explore a 
food cart ordinance since the only method the City currently has to allow food carts is through 
the issuance of a Temporary Use Permit, which is only good for 90-days, is intended to celebrate 
a specific season or event, does not have development standargs, .and is not renewable during the 
calendar year it is issued in; and / / 

WHEREAS, three public City Council work s.es~ion~ were held on the topic of food 
carts in order to gain feedback on setting appropria standards to .allow food carts to operate on 
a year-round basis; and 

ct 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendment e Scappoose MunicipalCode are intended to 

allow individual entrepreneurship at a small seal /.'4 to -~~e unique eating establishments to 
%?!(],> 1-f ',, 

the public, while ensuring that food qarts are conduct .rul uses and in a manner that is not 
detrimental or disruptive in terms of appearance or oper. o neighboring properties and 
residents; and 

application; and 
,1,::~,"J:' 

WHEREAS' 
' 13, 2018 and the City 

22, 2019; n,p;w.tJ:i.erefore, 

THE CITY OF SCAPPOOSE 

as required by law for this 

mmissionh~fa>a hearingoh the application on December 
earing on the application on January 7, 2019 and January 
;ff~,,'4? 
jff,8,&k:r: 

%;~,'I/I:; 
/~~,,:~:',:':$; 

AINS ~st}f.QLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Scappoose Muni~1flfI~~~de is hereby amended as indicated in Exhibit A, 
attached hereto and hereby incorporatedlS~reference. 

Section 2. The City of Scam-~oose adopts the findings and conclusions contained in the staff 
report dated December 6, 2018, attached to this ordinance as Exhibit B and hereby incorporated 
by reference, as the basis in ~U.pport of this ordinance. 

PASS ED AND ADOPTED by the City Council this 22nd day of January 2019 and signed by the 
Mayor and City Recorder in authentication of its passage. 

First Reading: January 7, 2019 
Second Reading: 

Page 1 - ORDINANCE NO. 877 

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE, OREGON 

Scott Burge, Mayor 

13



Susan M. Reeves, MMC 
City Recorder 

Page 2 - ORDINANCE NO. 877 14



In the text below, language additions are double underlined. Only those 
sections being amended, have been included. 

Chapter 17 62 

C GENERAL COMMERCIAJ, 

Sections: 

17.62.010 Purpose. 
17.62.030 Permitted and Conditional uses. 
17.62.050 Dimensional requirements-Commercial and mixed-use buildings. 
17.62.060 Dimensional requirements-Multifamily buildings. 
17.62.070 Dimensional requirements Live/Work townhouse or live/work 

multifamily buildings 
17.62.080 Live/Work Requirements. 
17.62.090 Special Buffer Requirements for multifamily and 

Live/Work multifamily buildings. 
17.62.100 Architectural character for multifamily and 

Live/Work multifamily buildings. 

]7.62.0JO Purpose. The purpose of the general commercial zone is to 
provide for a concentrated, central commercial, office and major retail 
goods and services area with opportunities for employment and business and 
professional services in close proximity to residential services and 
located adjacent to arterial or collector streets. (Ord. 868, 2018; Ord. 
634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

]7.62.030 Permitted and Conditional uses. (Ord 868. 20J8) 

Use 

Church Permitted outrightl 

Community recreation facilities Permitted outrightl 

Convenience sales Permitted outrightl 

Cultural exhibits and library services Permitted outrightl 

Day care facility Permitted outrightl 

Mixed-use building Permitted outrightl 

Eating and drinking establishments Permitted outrightl 

Equipment rentals, general Permitted outrightl 

Financial, insurance and real estate services Permitted outrightl 

Food and beverage retail sales Permitted outrightl 

Food cart 2od ( Ty2e I or II)lsubject to Cha2ter Permitted outrightl 
17.126 

General retail sales Permitted outrightl 

Home occupation (Type I) subject to Chapter Permitted outrightl 
17.142, Home Occupations 

15



16



In the text below, language additions are double underlined. Only 
those sections being amended were included. 

Chapter 17.68 

EC EXPANDED COMMERCIAI, 

Sections: 

17.68.010 Purpose. 
17.68.030 Permitted and Conditional uses. 
17.68.050 Dimensional requirements-Commercial and mixed-use buildings. 
17.68.060 Dimensional requirements-Multifamily buildings 
17.68.070 Dimensional requirements Live/Work townhouse or live/work 

multifamily buildings 
17.68.080 Live/Work Requirements. 
17.68.090 Special Buffer Requirements for multifamily and 

live/work multifamily buildings. 
17.68.100 Architectural character for multifamily and 

live/work multifamily buildings. 

17.68.010 Purpose The purpose of the EC zone is to provide areas: A. 
For combining light manufacturing, office, retail sales, and 
complementary related commercial uses; 

B. For combining uses which have no off-site impacts in terms of noise, 
odor, glare, lights, vibration, smoke, dust or other types of off-
site impacts; 

C. For combining parking, landscaping and other design features which 
physically and visually link structures and uses within one development; 
D. Which utilize a basic street and utility pattern which will permit 
flexibility in the size of development sites and provide internal 
circulation which connect to adjoining sites; and 

E. Which provide for a circulation system that provides direct access to 
arterials or collectors that will not channel traffic through 
residential areas. (Ord. 868, 2018; Ord. 634 §1 

Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.68.030 Permjtted and Condjtjonal uses (Ord 868. 20J8) 

Use 

Agricultural sales Permitted outright 1 

17



Automotive and equipment: Permitted outright 1 

1. Repairs provided that a five-foot landscaped 
perimeter setback surround all outdoor parking 
and storage areas and all repair work is 
performed indoors; 

2. Sales/rental/storage of farm equipment, 
automobiles, recreational vehicles, boats or 
light equipment, provided that a five-foot 
landscaped perimeter setback surrounds all 
outdoor parking and all storage areas are 
buffered and screened in accordance with 
Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening and 
Fencing. 

Building materials sales and storage Permitted outrightl 

Building maintenance services Permitted outrightl 

Business equipment sales and services Permitted outrightl 

Church Permitted outrightl 

Commercial amusement facilities including bowling Permitted outright 1 

alleys, video arcades, and movie theaters other than 
adult motion picture theaters 

Communication services Permitted outrightl 

Construction sales and services Permitted outrightl 

Day care facility Permitted outright 1 

Mixed-use building Permitted outrightl 

Eating and drinking establishments Permitted outrightl 

Equipment rental and sales Permitted outrightl 

Financial, insurance and real estate services Permitted outrightl 

Food cart 2od {Type I or II L l subject to Cha2ter Permitted outrightl 
17.126 

General retail sales Permitted outright1 

Home occupation (Type I) subject to Chapter 17.142, Permitted outrightl 
Home Occupations 

Laundry services Permitted outrightl 

Medical and dental services Permitted outrightl 

Mini-storage with or without caretaker dwelling Permitted outrightl 

Multifamily buildings, when located outside of the Permitted outrightl 
Scappoose Creek Flood Plain 

Live/Work townhouses or live/work multifamily Permitted outrightl 
building 

Packaging and production of finished products from Permitted outrightl 
previously prepared materials 

Parking facilities Permitted outrightl 

Participation sports and recreation, indoor Permitted outrightl 

Postal services Permitted outrightl 

18



In the text below, language additions are double underlined. 

Chapter 17.69 

PUA PUBI,JC USE AIRPORT 

Sections: 

17.69.010 Purpose. 
17.69.020 Conformance with public use airport safety and 

compatibility overlay. 
17.69.030 Definitions. 
17.69.040 Permitted uses. 
17.69.050 Uses permitted subject to the acceptance of the 

airport sponsor. 
17.69.060 Conditional uses. 
17.69.070 Dimensional requirements and 

development standards. 

17.69 OJO Purpose The purpose of the public use airport 
zone is to encourage and support the continued operation and 
vitality of the Scappoose Industrial Airpark by allowing 
certain airport-related commercial, manufacturing and 
recreational uses in accordance with state law. (Ord. 726 §2, 
2002) 

17 69 020 Conformance with publj c 11se airport safety and 
compatibility overlay All uses, activities, facilities and 
structures allowed in the public use airport (PUA) zone shall 
comply with the requirements of the Public Use Airport Safety 
and Compatibility Overlay (Chapter 17.88). In the event of a 
conflict between the requirements of this zone and those of the 
public use airport safety and compatibility overlay, the 
requirements of the overlay shall control. (Ord. 726 §2, 2002) 

17.69.30Definitions. Unless the context specifically 
indicates otherwise, the meaning of terms used in this chapter 
shall be as follows: 

A. "Aircraft" includes airplanes and 
helicopters, but not hot air balloons or ultralights. 

B. "Airport sponsor" is the owner, manager, 
person or entity designated to represent the 
interests of an airport. For the Scappoose Industrial 

19



Airpark, the airport sponsor is the Port of St. 
Helens. 

C. "Airport compatible light industrial uses" 
are light industrial uses that do not create 
safety hazards or otherwise interfere with 
customary and usual aviation-related activities. 
(Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 726, 2002) 

17 69 40 Permj tted uses The following uses and activities 
are permitted outright in the PUA zone: 

A. Customary and usual aviation-related activities, 
including but not limited to takeoffs and landings; aircraft 
hangars and tie-downs; construction and maintenance of airport 
facilities; fixed based operator facilities; a residence for an 
airport caretaker or security officer; and other activities 
incidental to the normal operation of an airport. Except as 
provided in this chapter, "customary and usual aviation related 
activities" do not include residential, commercial, industrial, 
manufacturing and other uses; 

B. Air passenger and air freight services and 
facilities, at levels consistent with the classification and 
needs identified in the Oregon Department of Aviation Airport 
System Plan; 

C. Emergency medical flight services, including 
activities, aircraft, accessory structures, and other 
facilities necessary to support emergency transportation for 
medical purposes. Emergency 
medical flight services do not include hospitals, medical 
offices, medical labs, medical equipment sales, and other 
similar uses; 

D. Law enforcement and firefighting activities, 
including aircraft and ground-based activities, facilities and 
accessory structures necessary to support federal, state or 
local law enforcement 
or land management agencies engaged in law enforcement or 
firefighting activities. Law enforcement and firefighting 
activities include transport of personnel, aerial observation, 
and transport of equipment, water, fire retardant and supplies; 

E. Search and rescue operations, including aircraft and 
ground based activities that promote the orderly and efficient 
conduct of search or rescue related activities. 

20



F. Flight instruction, including activities, facilities, 
and accessory structures located at airport sites that provide 
education and training directly related to aeronautical 
activities. Flight instruction includes ground training and 
aeronautic skills training, but does not include schools for 
flight attendants, ticket agents or similar personnel; 

G. Aircraft service, maintenance and training, including 
activities, facilities and accessory structures provided to 
teach aircraft service and maintenance skills and to maintain, 
service, refuel or repair aircraft or aircraft components. 
"Aircraft service, maintenance and training" includes the 
construction and assembly of aircraft and aircraft components 
for personal use, but does not include activities, structures 
or facilities for the manufacturing of aircraft or aircraft 
related products for sale to the public; 

H. Aircraft rental, including activities, facilities and 
accessory structures that support the provision of aircraft for 
rent or lease to the public; 

I.Aircraft sales and the sale of aeronautic equipment 
and supplies, including activities, facilities and accessory 
structures for the storage, display, demonstration and sales of 
aircraft and aeronautic equipment and supplies to the public 
but not including activities, facilities or structures for the 
manufacturing of aircraft or aircraft related products for sale 
to the public; 

J. Crop dusting activities, including activities, 
facilities and structures accessory to crop dusting operations. 
Crop dusting activities include, but are not limited to, aerial 
application of chemicals, seed, fertilizer, defoliant and other 
chemicals or products used in a commercial agricultural, 
forestry or rangeland management setting; 

K. Agricultural and forestry activities, including 
activities, facilities and accessory structures that qualify as 
a "farm use" as defined in ORS 215.203 or "farming practice" as 
defined in ORS 30.930; 

L. Manufacturing, assembly, processing, packaging, 
testing, treatment, repair, or distribution of aircraft or 
aircraft related components or products for sale to the public; 
and 

M. Other airport compatible light industrial uses. (Ord. 
726 §2, 2002) 

21



J7 69 050 Uses permitted subject to the acceptance of the 
ajrport sponsor The following uses and activities and their 
associated facilities and accessory structures are permitted in 
the PUA zone upon demonstration of acceptance by the airport 
sponsor: aeronautic recreational and sporting activities, 
including activities, facilities and accessory structures at 
airports that support recreational usage of aircraft and 
sporting activities that require the use of aircraft or other 
devices used and intended for use in flight. Aeronautic 
recreation and sporting activities authorized under this 
section include, but are not limited to, fly-ins; glider 
flights; ultralight aircraft flights; displays of aircraft; 
aeronautic flight skills contests; and gyrocopter flights, but 
do not include hot air ballooning, flights carrying 
parachutists or parachute drops (including all forms of 
skydiving). (2015; Ord. 726 §2, 2002) 

17. 69. 60 ConditionaJ uses The following uses and their 
accessory uses may be permitted when authorized by the planning 
commission in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 
17.130 (Conditional Use) of the Scappoose Development Code, 
other relevant sections of this title, and any conditions 
imposed by the planning commission: 

A. Auto rental agencies; 

B. Cafeterias and restaurants; 

C. Food cart pod (Type I or II), subject to 
Chapter 17.126. 

D. Motels; and 

E. Other commercial uses customarily located 
at public use airports. (Ord. 726 §2, 2002; Ord. 846, 
2015) 

J 7 69 70 Djmensj onaJ requirements and deveJ opment standards 

A. Lot Size. There is no minimum lot size in the PUA 
zone. 

B. Setbacks. No front, side or rear yard setbacks except 
on lots abutting a residential district, where the minimum 
setback is fifty feet on the side abutting or facing the 
residential district. 

C. Screening. All outside storage areas require 
buffering and screening as defined in Chapter 17.100 

(Landscaping) of the Scappoose Development Code. 

22



D. Uses shall be developed and located in a manner 
consistent with the most recent federally approved airport 
layout plan, the current Scappoose Industrial 
Airpark Airport Master Plan. 

E.Additional requirements 
applicable section of this title. 
§4, 2006; Ord. 726 §2, 2002) 

shall include any 
(Ord. 869, 2018; Ord. 786 

23



24



In the text below, language additions are double underlined. 

Chapter 17.70 

LI LIGHT INDUSTRIAL 

Sections: 

17.70.010 Purpose. 
17.70.030 Permitted uses. 
17.70.040 Conditional uses. 
17.70.050 Dimensional requirements. 

17.70.010 Purpose. The purpose of the light industrial zone 
is to: 

A. Provide appropriate locations for industrial use 
including light manufacturing and related activities with few, 
if any, nuisance characteristics such as noise, glare and smoke; 

B. To permit manufacturing, processing, assembling, 
packaging or treatment of produce or products from previously 
prepared materials; and 

c. To provide a wide variety of sites with good highway 
or rail access. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.70.030 Permitted uses. In the light industrial zone, 
activities are subject to site development review, Chapter 
17.120, Site Development Review. Only the following uses and 
their accessory uses are permitted outright: 

A. Agricultural sales and services including uses 
customarily carried on outdoors except slaughterhouses, 
tanneries or rendering plants; 

B. Animal sales and service including auctions, kennels 
and veterinary; 

c. Automobile and equipment sales, service and repair (new 
and used) ; 

D. Bakeries; 
E. Building maintenance services; 
F. Building materials sales and service; 
G. Caretaker dwelling; 
H. Construction sales and services; 
I. Home occupation (Type I) subject to Chapter 17.142, 

Home Occupations; 
J. Laundry services; 
K. Research services; 
L. Retail facilities on sites greater than one hundred 

thousand square feet; 

25



M. Manufacturing of finished products; 
N. Manufacturing of components for use in finished 

products; 
0. Packaging of previously processed materials; 
P. Participation sports and recreation: indoor and 

outdoors; 
Q. Processing and packing of food products; 
R. Processing of previously processed materials for use in 

components or finished products; 
S. Processing of materials for use in any construction or 

building trades; 
T. Public support facilities; 
U. Parking facilities; 
V. Public safety services; 
W. Transportation terminals and storage yards, provided 

that a five-foot landscaped perimeter setback surrounds all 
outdoor parking, all storage areas are buffered and screened in 
accordance with Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening and 
Fencing, and all repair work is performed indoors; 

X. Vehicle fuel/convenience sales; 
Y. Wholesale, storage and distribution; 
Z. Any permitted use on a temporary basis subject to 

Scappoose Municipal Code 17.128, Temporary Commercial and 
Industrial Uses; 

AA. Wireless communications facilities, not to include 
antenna support structures, subject to the provisions of Chapter 
17.93. (Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 705 §l(part), 2001; Ord. 698 §3, 
2000; Ord. 636 §l(part), 1996; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.70.040 Conditional uses. The following uses and their 
accessory uses may be permitted when authorized by the planning 
commission in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 
17.130, Conditional Use, other relevant sections of this title 
and any conditions imposed by the planning commission: 

A. Eating and drinking establishments; 
B. Commercial amusement facilities including bowling 

alleys, video arcades, and movie theaters other than adult 
motion picture theaters; 

C. Home occupations (Type II) subject to Chapter 17.142, 
Home Occupations; 

D. Recycle stations, provided that a ten-foot perimeter 
setback containing both externally visible landscaping meeting 
buffering standards and solid screening surrounds the property, 
all operations are conducted entirely within buildings, and all 

26



building setbacks shall be a minimum of thirty feet from any 
property line; 

E. Major impact utilities, provided that a ten-foot 
perimeter setback containing both externally visible landscaping 
meeting buffering standards and screening surrounds property; 

F. Wireless communication facilities, subject to the 
provisions of Chapter 17.93; 

G. Mini-storage with or without a caretaker dwelling, 
provided that the facility size is three acres or less and that 
no adjoining sites or properties have mini-storage facilities. 

H. Institutions of higher education, provided that the 
parcel size is 50 acres or less; 

I. Food cart pod (Type I or II), subject to Chapter 17.126. 
Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 829, 2013; Ord. 705 §l(part), 2001; Ord. 
634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.70.050 Dimensional requirements. A. Unless otherwise 
specified, the minimum setback requirements are as follows: 

1. The front yard setback shall be a minimum of twenty 
feet; 

2. On corner lots the minimum setback for the side 
facing the street shall be five feet; 

3. On through lots, the front and rear setback shall 
be a minimum of twenty feet; 

4. No additional side or rear yard setback shall be 
required except fifty feet shall be required where abutting a 
residential zoning district and the planning commission may 
reduce this required yard setback by fifty percent pursuant to 
Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening and Fencing. 

B. No building shall exceed fifty feet in height. Within 
one hundred feet of a residential zone, no building shall exceed 
thirty-five feet in height. 

C. All outside storage areas require buffering and 
screening as defined in Chapter 17.100, Landscaping, Screening 
and Fencing. 

D. Additional requirements shall include any applicable 
section of this title. (Ord. 846, 2015; Ord. 663 §7, 1998; Ord. 
634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

27



28



In the text below, language to be omitted is strikethrough, and 
proposed language additions are double underlined. 

Chapter 17.162 

PROCEDURES FOR DECISION MAKING--QUASI-JUDICIAL 

Sections: 

17.162.010 Purpose. 
17.162.020 Application process. 
17.162.021 Consolidation of proceedings. 
17.162.025 Noticing requirements. 
17.162.030 Contents of notice for public hearings. 
17.162.040 Failure to receive notice. 
17.162.050 Time period for decision making. 
17.162.090 Approval authority responsibilities. 
17.162.110 Decision by the planner--No hearing required. 
17.162.120 Notice of decision by the planner. 
17.162.130 Hearings procedure. 
17.162.140 Decision process. 
17.162.150 Denial of the application--Re-submittal. 
17.162.160 Record may remain open--Admission of new evidence. 
17.162.170 Ex parte communications with approval authority. 
17.162.180 Continuation of the hearing. 
17.162.200 Evidence. 
17.162.210 Judicial notice. 
17.162.220 Participation in the decision--Voting. 
17.162.230 Record of proceeding for public hearings. 
17.162.240 Form of the final decision. 
17.162.250 Notice of final decision. 
17.162.260 Amending a decision by the planner. 
17.162.270 Standing to appeal. 
17.162.280 Computation of appeal period. 
17.162.290 Determination of appropriate appeal body. 
17.162.300 Type of appeal hearing--Limitations of appeal. 
17.162.310 Transcripts. 
17.162.320 Notice of appeal. 
17.162.330 Fee waivers. 
17.162.340 Persons entitled to notice of appeal-Type of notice. 
17.162.350 Contents of notice of appeal. 
17.162.360 Action on appeal. 
17.162.380 Effective date of final action. 
17.162.390 Revocation of approvals. 

17.162.010 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter is to establish 
procedures for the consideration of development applications, for the 
consideration of quasi-judicial comprehensive plan or zoning 
amendments and for appeal of quasi-judicial decisions. (Ord. 634 §1 
Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.020 Application process. A. The applicant shall be 
required to meet with the planner for a pre-application conference. 
Such a requirement may be waived in writing by the applicant. 

B. The planner will invite city staff from other departments 
to provide technical expertise applicable to the proposal, as 
necessary, as well as other public agency staff. 

c. At such conference, the planner shall: 

29



1. Cite the applicable comprehensive plan policies and map 
designation; 

2. Cite the applicable substantive and procedural 
ordinance provisions; 

3. Provide available technical data and assistance which 
will aid the applicant as provided by the public works director; 

4. Identify other policies and regulations that relate to 
the application; and 

5. Identify other opportunities or constraints that relate 
to the application. 

D. Another preapplication conference is required if an 
application is submitted six months after the preapplication 
conference. 

E. Failure of the planner to provide any of the information 
required by this chapter shall not constitute a waiver of the 
standards, criteria or requirements of the applications. Neither the 
city nor the planner shall be liable for any incorrect information 
provided in the preapplication conferences. 

F. Applications for approval required under this title may be 
initiated by: 

1. Resolution of the city council; 
2. Resolution of the planning commission; 
3. The planner; 
4. A recognized neighborhood planning organization or city 

advisory board or commission; or 
5. Application of a record owner of property or contract 

purchaser. 
G. Any persons authorized by this title to submit an 

application for approval may be represented by an agent authorized in 
writing to make the application. 

H. The application shall be made on forms provided by the 
planner. 

I. The application shall: 
1. Include the information requested on the application 

form; 
2. Address appropriate criteria in sufficient detail for 

review and action; and 
3. Be accompanied by the required fee. 

J. The planner may require information in addition to that 
required by a specific provision of this title, provided the planner 
determines this information is needed to properly evaluate the 
proposed development proposal; and the need can be justified on the 
basis of a special or unforeseen circumstance. 

K. The planner may waive the submission of information for a 
specific requirement provided the planner finds that specific 
information is not necessary to properly evaluate the application; or 
the planner finds that a specific approval standard is not applicable 
to the application. 

L. Where a requirement is found by the planner to be 
inapplicable, the planner shall: 

1. Indicate for the record and to the applicant the 
specific requirements found inapplicable; and 

2. Advise the applicant in writing that the finding may be 
challenged on appeal or at the hearing or decision on the matter and 
may be denied by the approval authority; and 

3. Cite in the staff report on the application the 
specific requirements found inapplicable, the reasons therefor and 
the specific grant of authority. 

M. An application shall be deemed incomplete unless it 
addresses each element required to be considered under applicable 

30



provisions of this title and the application form, unless that 
requirement has been found inapplicable by the planner. The planner 
shall not accept an incomplete application. 

N. If an application is incomplete, the planner shall: 
1. Notify the applicant within thirty days of receipt of 

the application of exactly what information is missing; and 
2. Allow the applicant to submit the missing information. 

0. The application shall be deemed complete when the missing 
information is provided and at that time the one hundred twenty-day 
time period shall begin to run for the purposes of satisfying state 
law. 

P. If the applicant refuses to submit the missing information, 
the application shall be deemed incomplete on the thirty-first day 
after the planner first received the application and returned to the 
applicant. 

Q. Referrals will be sent to interested agencies such as city 
departments, police department, fire district, school district, 
utility companies, and applicable city, county, and state agencies. 
Affected jurisdiction and agencies could include the Department of 
Environmental Quality, the Oregon Department of Transportation, and 
Columbia County Rider. (Ord. 634 91 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.021 Consolidation of proceedings. A. Except as provided in 
subsection c of this section, whenever an applicant requests more 
than one approval and more than one approval authority is required to 
decide the applications, the proceedings shall be consolidated so 
that one approval authority shall decide all applications in one 
proceeding. 

B. In such cases as stated in subsection A of this section, 
the hearings shall be held by the approval authority having original 
jurisdiction over one of the applications under Section 17.164.110, 
in the following order of preference: the council, the commission, or 
the planner. 

C. Where there is a consolidation of proceedings: 
1. The notice shall identify each action to be taken; 
2. The decision on a plan map amendment shall precede the 

decision on the proposed zone change and other actions. Plan map 
amendments are not subject to the one hundred twenty-day decision 
making period prescribed by state law and such amendments may involve 
complex issues. Therefore, the planner shall not be required to 
consolidate a plan map amendment and a zone change or other permit 
applications requested unless the applicant requests the proceedings 
be consolidated and signs a waiver of the one hundred twenty-day time 
limit prescribed by state law for zone change and permit 
applications; and 

3. Separate actions shall be taken on each application. 
D. Consolidated Permit Procedure. 

1. Use of the consolidated permit procedures described in 
this section shall be at the election of the applicant. 

2. When the consolidated procedure is elected, application 
and fee requirements shall remain as provided by resolution approved 
by the council. If more than one permit is required by this title or 
other ordinance to be heard by the planning commission or city 
council, each such hearing shall be combined with any other permit 
also requiring such hearing. The standards applicable to each permit 
by this or any other ordinance shall be applied in the consolidated 
procedures to each application. 

3. In a consolidated proceeding, the staff report and 
recommendation provided by the planner shall be consolidated into a 
single report. 

31



4. All rules and ordinances of the city not in conflict 
with this section shall apply in a consolidated permit procedure. 
(Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.025 Noticing requirements. A. Notice of a pending quasi
judicial public hearing shall be given by the planner in the 
following manner: 

1. At least twenty days prior to the scheduled hearing 
date, or if two or more hearings are scheduled, ten days prior to the 
first hearing, notice shall be sent by mail to: 

a. The applicant and all owners or contract purchasers 
of record of the property which is the subject of the application; 

b. All property owners of record or the most recent 
property tax assessment roll within three hundred feet of the 
property which is the subject of the notice plus any properties 
abutting proposed off-site improvements. 

c. Any governmental agency or utility whose property, 
services or facilities may be affected by the decision. The reviewing 
City Staff shall determine the extent of notice to public agencies or 
utilities based on perceived interest or impact; noticed agencies may 
include: 

i. 
ii. 
iii. 
iv. 
v. 
vi. 
vii. 
viii. 
ix. 
x. 
xi. 
xii. 

Columbia County Land Development Services; 
Columbia County Road Department; 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) ; 
ODOT Rail Division; 
Portland & Western Railroad; 
Scappoose Rural Fire Protection District; 
Port of St. Helens; 
Oregon Department of Aviation; 
Scappoose School District; 
Columbia County Soil Conservation District; 
Scappoose Drainage Improvement Company; or 
Any other affected agencies as identified 

by the planner; 
d. Acknowledged neighborhood planning organizations, if 

active; 
e. Any person who requests, in writing; and 
f. The appellant and all parties to an appeal. 

2. At least thirty-five days before the initial hearing on 
adoption of any proposal to amend the comprehensive plan map or 
zoning map, notice shall be sent to the Department of Land 
Conservation and Development; 

3. Notice of a hearing on a proposed zone change for a 
manufactured home park shall be given to tenants of that manufactured 
home park at least twenty days but no more than forty days prior to 
the hearing; and 

4. The planner shall cause an affidavit of mailing of 
notice to be filed and made a part of the administrative record. 

B. For all quasi-judicial decisions requiring a public 
hearing, the applicant shall post signs provided by the planner 
displaying notice of the pending hearing at least fourteen days prior 
to the date of the hearing. One sign shall be required for each three 
hundred feet, or part thereof, of frontage of the subject property on 
any street. The content, design, size and location of the signs shall 
be as determined by the planner to assure that the information is 
legible from the public right-of-way. As a precondition to a hearing, 
the applicant shall file an affidavit of such posting with the 
planner no less than ten days prior to the hearing. 

32



C. For all quasi-judicial decisions requiring a public 
hearing, at least ten days prior to the hearing, notice shall be 
given in a newspaper of general circulation in the city. An affidavit 
of publication shall be made part of the administrative record. (Ord. 
828, 2013; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.030 Contents of the notice for public hearings. Notice 
given to persons entitled to mailed or published notice pursuant to 
Section 17.28.120 17.162.025 shall include the following information: 

A. A description of the subject property, the street address 
if available, and a general location which shall include tax map 
designations from the county assessor's office; 

B. Except for notice published in the newspaper, a map showing 
the location of the property; 

C. An explanation of the nature of the application and the 
proposed use or uses which could be authorized; D. The applicable 
criteria from the ordinances and comprehensive plan that apply to the 
application; 

E. The time, place and date of the public hearing; 
F. A statement that both public oral and written testimony is 

invited, a general explanation of the requirements for submission of 
evidence and the procedure for conduct of the hearing; 

G. State that copies of all evidence relied upon by the 
applicant are available for review, and that copies can be obtained 
at cost; 

H. A statement that all documents or evidence in the file are 
available for inspection at no cost, or copies at a reasonable cost; 

I. A statement that a copy of the staff report will be 
availabl~ for inspection at no cost, or copies at reasonable cost, at 
least seven days prior to the hearing; 

J. A statement that failure to raise an issue in the hearing 
or during the comment period, in person or by letter, or failure to 
provide sufficient specific detail to give the decision maker or 
hearing body an opportunity to respond to the issue, precludes appeal 
to the land use board of appeals on that issue. Issues shall be 
raised with sufficient specificity to enable the decision maker to 
respond to the issue. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.040 Failure to receive notice. A. Where either the 
planning commission or council or both intend to hold more than one 
public hearing on the same application, notice of several public 
hearings before both approval authorities may be given in one notice. 

B. The failure of a property owner to receive notice shall not 
invalidate the action provided a good faith attempt was made to 
notify all persons entitled to notice. 

C. Personal notice is deemed given when the notice is 
deposited with the United States Postal Service. 

D. Published notice is deemed given on the date it is 
published. 

E. In computing the length of time that notice is given, the 
first date notice is given shall be excluded and the day of the 
hearing or the date on which the appeal period expires shall be 
included unless the last day falls on any legal holiday or on 
Saturday, in which case, the last day shall be the next business day. 

F. The records of the Columbia County assessor's office shall 
be the official records used for giving notice required in this 
title, and a person's name and address which is not on file at the 
time the notice mailing list is initially prepared is not a person 
entitled to notice. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.050 Time period for decision making. The city shall take 
final action on an application for a permit, plan change or zone 

33



change, including the resolution of all appeals, within one hundred 
twenty days after the application is deemed complete, except: 

A. The one hundred twenty-day period may be extended for a 
reasonable period of time at the request of the applicant; 

B. The one hundred twenty-day period applies only to a 
decision wholly within the authority and control of the city; and 

c. The one hundred twenty-day period does not apply to an 
amendment to an acknowledged comprehensive plan or land use 
regulation. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.090 Approval authority responsibilities. A. The planner 
shall have the authority to approve, deny or approve with conditions 
the following applications: 

1. Interpretations subject to Section 17.01.050; 
2. Determination of parking requirements for unlisted 

uses; 
3. Determination of access, egress and circulation plan 

(not subject to planning commission approval) pursuant to public 
works design standards; 

4. Sign, sign exception, and sign variance pursuant to 
Chapter 17.114; 

5. Minor variance pursuant to Chapter 17.134; 
6. Type I home occupation pursuant to Chapter 17.142; 
7. Sensitive land permits (for applications not subject to 

planning commission approval) pursuant to Chapter 17.84, Chapter 
17.85, Chapter 17.86, and Chapter 17.89; and 

8. Public land tree removal not associated with timber 
harvesting and clearing from designated public recreation areas. 

9. Type I Food cart pod permits, subject to Chapter 17.126. 
B. The planner may refer any application for review to the 

planning commission. 
C. The planning commission shall conduct a public hearing in 

the manner prescribed by this chapter and shall have the authority to 
approve, approve with conditions, approve with modifications or deny 
the following development applications: 

1. Recommendations for applicable comprehensive plan and 
zoning district designations to city council for lands annexed to the 
city; 

2. A quasi-judicial comprehensive plan map amendment 
except the planning commission's function shall be limited to a 
recommendation to the council. The commission may transmit its 
recommendation in any form and a final order need not be formally 
adopted; 

3.A quasi-judicial zoning map amendment shall be decided in 
the same manner as a quasi-judicial plan amendment and is subject to 
17.160.120(C); 

4. Conditional use pursuant to Chapter 17.130; 
5. Major variance pursuant to Chapter 17.134; 
6. Sensitive land permits and variances pursuant 

to Chapter 17.84, Chapter 17.85, and Chapter 17.86 for applications 
requiring planning commission action; 

7. Type II home occupation pursuant to Chapter 
17.142; 

8. Historic overlay district exterior alteration and new 
construction applications pursuant to Chapter 17.82; 

9. Public land tree removal associated with timber 
harvesting and clearing from designated public recreation areas; 

10. Authorization of Similar Use pursuant to Chapter 17.43; 

34



11. Fence or fence/berm combination greater than eight feet 
in height; 

12. Conceptual master plan or modification of conceptual 
master plan pursuant to Chapter 17.74; 

1l__,_ Type II Food cart pod permits, subject to Chapter 
17.126. 

-±:-3-;-14. Appeal of a decision made by the planner; and 
-±:-4-,-15. Any other matter not specifically assigned to the 

planner, or-the city council under this title. 
D. Upon appeal or recommendation, the city council shall 

conduct a public hearing in the manner prescribed by this chapter and 
shall have the authority to approve, deny or approve with conditions 
the following development applications: 

1. Annexations and the formal imposition of plan and zone 
designations made to lands annexed to the city; 

2. Quasi-judicial plan and zone amendments, including 
overlay zones; 

3. Creation, modification or removal of a historic overlay 
designation or demolition of a historic site, structure or landmark 
pursuant to Chapter 17.82; 

4. Matters referred to the council by the planning 
commission; 

5. Review of decisions of the planning commission, whether 
on the council's own motion or otherwise. (Ord. 857, 2016; Ord. 828, 
2013; Ord. 820 §12, 2012; Ord. 817, 2011; Ord. 736 §1, 2003; Ord. 634 
§1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.110 Decision by the planner--No hearing required. A. 
Pursuant to Section 17.162.090(A), the planner is authorized to make 
certain decisions, and no hearing shall be held unless: 

1. An appeal is filed; or 
2. The planner has an interest in the outcome of the 

decision, due to some past or present involvement with the applicant, 
other interested persons or in the property or surrounding property. 
In such cases, the application shall be treated as if it were filed 
under Section 17.162.090(C). 

B. The decision shall be based on the approval criteria set 
forth in Section 17.162.140. 

C. Notice of the decision by the planner shall be given as 
provided by Section 17.162.120 and notice shall be governed by the 
provisions of Section 17.162.030 and Section 17.162.040. 

D. The record shall include: 
1. A copy of the application and all supporting information, 

plans, exhibits, graphics, etc.; 
2. All correspondence relating to the application; 
3. All information considered by the planner in making the 

decision; 
4. The staff report of the planner; 
5. A list of the conditions, if any are attached to the 

approval of the application; and 
6. A copy of the notice advising of the planner's 

decision, a list of all persons who were given mailed notice and 
accompanying affidavits. 

E. Standing to appeal shall be as provided by Section 
17.162.200. 

F. The appeal period shall be computed as provided by Section 
17.162.210. 

G. The method for taking the appeal shall be as provided by 
Subsection 17 .162. 220 (A) and the notice of appeal submitted by an 
appellant shall be as provided by Section 17.162.250. 

H. The hearing on the appeal shall be confined to the prior 

35



record as provided in Section 17.162.300. 
I. Notice of the final decision on appeal shall be as provided 

by Section 17.162.250 and Section 17.162.240. 
J. No decision by the planner may be modified from that set 

out in the notice except upon being given new notice. 
K. The action on the appeal shall be as provided by Section 

17.162.360. 
L. A decision by the commission on an appeal of a 

planner's decision may be appealed to the council. 
M. Re-submittal shall be as provided by Section 17.162.150, 

Denial of Application: Re-submittal. 
N. The provisions of Section 17.162.390, Revocation of 

Approvals apply to a decision by the Planner. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A 
(part), 1995) 

17.162.120 Notice of decision by the planner. A. Notice of the 
planner's decision on an application pursuant to Section 
17.162.090(A) shall be given by the planner in the following manner: 

1. Within five days of signing the proposed decision, 
notice shall be sent by mail to: 

a. The applicant and all owners or contract purchasers 
of record of the property which is the subject of the application; 

b. All surrounding property owners or record of 
property within three hundred feet of the property for administrative 
variances and sensitive lands; 

c. All owners of record of property immediately 
abutting a site for home occupations and Type I food cart pods; 

d. The applicant for a planner's interpretation or a 
planner's decision regarding an extension of approval; 

e. The recognized neighborhood planning organization; 
f. Any governmental agency which is entitled to notice 

under an intergovernmental agreement entered into with the city which 
includes provision for such notice; and 

g. Any person who requests notice in writing. 
B. The planner shall cause an affidavit of mailing to be filed 

and made a part of the administrative record. 
C. Notice of a decision by the planner shall contain: 

1. The nature of the application in sufficient detail to 
apprise persons entitled to notice of the applicant's proposal and of 
the decision; 

2. The address and general location of the subject 
property; 

3. A statement of where the adopted findings of fact, 
decision and statement of conditions can be obtained; 

4. The date the planner's decision will become final; 
5. A statement that a person entitled to notice or 

adversely affected or aggrieved by the decision may appeal the 
decision: 

a. The statement shall explain briefly how an appeal 
can be made, the deadlines and where information can be obtained, and 

b. The statement shall explain that if an appeal is not 
filed, the decision shall be final; 

6. A map showing the location of the property (planner's 
interpretations are exempt from this requirement); and 

7. A statement that the hearing on an appeal will be 
confined to the prior record. (Ord. 828, 2013; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A 
(part), 1995) 

17.162.130 Hearings procedure. A. Unless otherwise provided in 
this title or other ordinances adopted by council: 

1. The presiding officer of the planning commission and of 

36



the council shall have the authority to: 
a. Determine standing; 
b. Regulate the course, sequence and decorum of the 

hearing; 
c. Dispose of procedural requirements or similar 

matters; 
d. Rule on offers of proof and relevancy of evidence 

and testimony; 
e. Impose reasonable limitations on the number of 

witnesses heard and set reasonable time limits for oral presentation 
and rebuttal testimony; and 

f. Take such other action appropriate for conduct 
commensurate with the nature of the hearing; 

B. Unless otherwise provided in this title or other ordinances 
adopted by council, the presiding officer of the planning commission 
and of the council shall conduct the hearing as follows: 

1. Opening statement: announce the nature and purpose of 
the hearing and summarize the rules of conducting the hearing, and if 

the proceeding is an initial evidentiary hearing before the planning 
commission or the city council, make a statement that: 

a. Lists the applicable substantive criteria; 
b. States that testimony and evidence must be directed 

toward the criteria described in subdivision (1) (a) of this 
subsection, or to the other criteria in the comprehensive plan or the 
title which they apply to the decision; 

c. States that failure to raise an issue with 
sufficient specificity to afford the decision-maker and the parties 
an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal to the land 
use board of appeals on that issue. 

2. Quasi-judicial hearing process: 
a. Recognize parties; 
b. Request the planner to present the staff report, to 

explain any graphic or pictorial displays which are a part of the 
report, summarize the findings, recommendations and conditions, if 
any, and to provide such other information as may be requested by the 
approval authority; 

c. Allow the applicant or a representative of the 
applicant to be heard; 
d. Allow parties or witnesses in favor of the applicant's proposal to 
be heard; 

e. Allow parties or witnesses in opposition to the 
applicant's proposal to be heard; 

f. Upon failure of any party to appear, the approval 
authority shall take into consideration written material submitted by 
such party; 

g. Allow the parties in favor of the proposal to offer 
rebuttal evidence and testimony limited to rebuttal of points raised. 

h. Make a decision pursuant to Section 17.162.140 or 
take the matter under advisement pursuant to Section 17.162.180. 

C. Unless otherwise provided in this title or other ordinances 
adopted by the council, the following rules shall apply to the 
general conduct of the hearing: 

1. The approval authority may ask questions at any time 
before the close of the hearing, and the answers shall be limited to 
the substance of the question; 

2. Parties or the planner must receive approval from the 
approval authority to submit questions directly to other parties or 
witnesses or the planner; 

3. A reasonable amount of time shall be given to persons 
to respond to questions; 

4. No person shall testify without first receiving 

37



recognition from the approval authority and stating his full name and 
address; 

5. The approval authority may require that testimony be 
under oath or affirmation; 

6. Audience demonstrations such as applause, cheering and 
display of signs, or other conduct disruptive of the hearing shall 
not be permitted. Any such conduct may be cause for immediate 
suspension of the hearing or removal of persons responsible; and 

7. No person shall be disorderly, abusive or disruptive of 
the orderly conduct of the hearing. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.140 Decision process. A. The decision shall be based on: 
1. Proof by the applicant that the application fully 

complies with: 
a. Applicable policies of the city comprehensive plan; 

and 
b. The relevant approval standards found in the 

applicable chapter(s) of this title, the public works design 
standards, and other applicable implementing ordinances. 

B. Consideration may also be given to: 
1. Proof of a substantial change in circumstances or a 

mistake in the comprehensive plan or zoning map as it relates to the 
property which is the subject of the development application; and 

2. Factual oral testimony or written statements from the 
parties, other persons and other governmental agencies relevant to 
the existing conditions, other applicable standards and criteria, 
possible negative or positive attributes of the proposal or factors 
in subsections (A) or (B) ( 1) of this section. 

C. In all cases, the decision shall include a statement in a 
form addressing the planner's staff report. 

D. The approval authority may: 
1. Adopt findings and conclusions contained in the staff 

report; 
2. Adopt findings and conclusions of a lower approval 

authority; 
3. Adopt its own findings and conclusions; 
4. Adopt findings and conclusions submitted by any party 

provided all parties have had an opportunity to review the findings 
and comment on the same; or 

5. Adopt findings and conclusions from another source, 
either with or without modification, having made a tentative 
decision, and having directed staff to prepare findings for review 
and to provide an opportunity for all parties to comment on the same. 

E. The decision may be for denial, approval or approval with 
conditions. 

1. Conditions may be imposed where such conditions are 
necessary to: 

a. Carry out applicable provisions of the Scappoose 
comprehensive plan; 

b. Carry out the applicable implementing ordinances; 
and 

c. Ensure that adequate public services are provided to 
the development or to ensure that other required improvements are 
made; 

2. Conditions may include, but are not limited to: 
a. Minimum lot sizes; 
b. Larger setbacks; 
c. Preservation of significant natural features; 
d. Dedication of easements; and 
e. Conveyances and dedications of property needed for 

public use. 
3. Conditions of approval shall be fulfilled within the 

38



time limit set forth in the decision or, if no time limit is set 
forth, the conditions of approval shall be fulfilled within one year. 
Failure to fulfill any condition of approval within the time 
limitations provided may be grounds for revocation of approval, after 
notice and an opportunity to be heard as a quasi-judicial action; 

4. Changes, alterations or amendments to the substance of 
the conditions of approval shall be processed as a new action; 

5. Prior to the commencement of development, i.e., the 
issuance of any permits or the taking of any action under the 
approved development application, the owner and any contract 
purchasers of the property which is the subject of the approved 
application, may be required to sign and deliver to the planner their 
acknowledgment in a development agreement and consent to such 
conditions: 

a. The city manager shall have the authority to execute 
the development agreement on behalf of the city, 

b. No building permit shall be issued for the use 
covered by the application until the executed contract is recorded 
and filed in the county records, and 

c. Such development agreement shall be enforceable 
against the signing parties, their heirs, successors and assigns by 
the city by appropriate action in law or suit in equity; 

6. A bond in a form acceptable to the city or a cash 
deposit from the property owners or contract purchasers for the full 
amount as will ensure compliance with the conditions imposed pursuant 
to this subsection may be required. Such bond or deposit shall be 
posted prior to the issuance of a building permit for the use covered 
by the application. 

F. The final decision on the application may grant less than 
all of the parcel which is the subject of the application. 

G. If the planning commission fails to recommend approval, 
approval with modification, or denial of an application within sixty 
days of its first public hearing, the planner shall: 

1. Report the failure to approve a recommendation to the 
council; and 

2. Cause notice to be given, the matter to be placed on 
the council's agenda, a public hearing to be held and a decision to 
be made by the council. No further action shall be taken by the 
planning commission. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.150 Denial of the application--Re-submittal. An 
application which has been denied or an application which was denied 
and which on appeal has not been reversed by a higher authority, 
including the land use board of appeals, the land conservation and 
development commission or the courts, may not be resubmitted for the 
same or a substantially similar proposal or for the same or 
substantially similar action for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date the final city action is made denying the application 
unless there is a substantial change in the facts or a change in city 
policy which would change the outcome. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 
1995) 

17.162.160 Record may remain open--Admission of new evidence. A. 
Unless there is a continuance, the record shall remain open for new 
evidence for at least seven days at the request of any participant in 
the initial evidentiary hearing before the planning commission or the 
city council, if the request is made prior to the conclusion of the 
hearing. 

B. When the record is left open to admit new evidence, 
testimony, or criteria for decision-making, any person may raise new 
issues which relate to that new material. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 

39



1995) 

17.162.170 Ex parte communications with approval authority. A. 
Members of the approval authority shall not: 

1. Communicate, directly or indirectly, with any party or 
representative of a party in connection with any issue involved 
except upon giving notice and opportunity for all parties to 
participate; nor 

2. Take notice of any communication, report or other 
materials outside the record prepared by the proponents or opponents 
in connection with the particular case unless the parties are 
afforded an opportunity to contest the material so noticed. 

B. No decision or action of the planning commission or council 
shall be invalid due to an ex parte contact or bias resulting from an 
ex parte contact with a member of the decision-making body, if the 
member of the decision making body receiving the contact: 

1. Places on the record the substance of any written or 
oral ex parte communications concerning the decision or action; and 

2. Makes a public announcement of the content of the 
communication and of the parties' right to rebut the substance of the 
communication made at the first hearing following the communication 
where action will be considered or taken on the subject to which the 
communication related. 

C. Members of the planning commission shall be governed by the 
provisions of Oregon Revised Statute 227. 035 and the provisions of 
this section. 

D. This section shall not apply to planner decisions made 
under Section 17.162.090(A). 

E. A communication between any city employee and the planning 
commission or council shall not be considered an ex parte contact. 
(Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.180 Continuation of the hearing. A. An approval authority 
may continue the hearing from time to time to gather additional 
evidence, to consider the application fully or to give notice to 
additional persons. 

B. Unless otherwise provided by the approval authority, no 
additional notice need be given of a continued hearing if the matter 
is continued to a date, time and place certain. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A 
(part), 1995) 

17.162.200 Evidence. A. All evidence offered and not objected to 
may be received unless excluded by the approval authority on its own 
motion. 

B. Evidence received at any hearing shall be of a quality that 
reasonable persons rely upon in the conduct of their everyday 
affairs. 

c. No person shall present irrelevant, immaterial or unduly 
repetitious testimony or evidence. 

D. Evidence shall be received and notice may be taken of those 
facts in a manner similar to that provided for in contested cases 
before state administrative agencies pursuant to ORS 183.450, except 
as otherwise provided for in this title. 

E. Formal rules of evidence, as used in courts of law, shall 
not apply. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.210 Judicial notice. A. The approval authority may take 
notice of the following: 

1. All facts which are judicially noticeable. Such noticed 
facts shall be stated and made part of the record; 

2. The Statewide Planning Goals and regulations adopted 
pursuant to Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 197; and 

40



3. The comprehensive plan and other officially adopted 
plans, implementing ordinances, rules and regulations of the city. 

B. Matters judicially noticed need not be established by 
evidence and may be considered by the approval authority in the 
determination of the application. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.220 Participation in the decision--Voting. A. In addition 
to the provision of Oregon Revised Statute 227.035 which applies to 
planning commission members or Oregon Revised Statutes Chapter 244 
which applies to all members of an approval authority, each member of 
the approval authority shall be impartial. Any member having any 
substantial past or present involvement with the applicant, other 
interested persons, the property or surrounding property, or having a 
financial interest in the outcome of the proceeding, or having any 
pre-hearing contacts, shall state for the record the nature of their 
involvement or contacts, and shall either: 

1. State that they are not prejudiced by the involvement 
or contacts and will participate and vote on the matter; or 

2. State that they are prejudiced by the involvement or 
contact and will withdraw from participation in the matter. 

B. An affirmative vote by a majority of the qualified voting 
members of the approval authority who are present is required to 
approve, approve with conditions, or deny an application or to amend, 
modify, or reverse a decision on appeal. 

C. Notwithstanding subsections A and B of this section, no 
member of an approval authority having a financial interest in the 
outcome of an application shall take part in proceedings on that 
application; provided, however, with respect to the council only, a 
member may vote upon a finding of necessity which shall be placed on 
the record by the presiding officer. 

D. In an appeal, if there is a tie vote, the decision which is 
the subject of appeal shall stand. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.230 Record of proceeding for public hearings. A. A 
verbatim record of the proceeding shall be made by mechanical means 
(such as a tape recording), and: 

1. It shall not be necessary to transcribe testimony 
except as provided for in Section 17.162.310. 

2. The minutes or (if applicable) transcript of testimony, 
or other evidence of the proceedings, shall be part of the record. 

B. All exhibits received shall be marked so as to provide 
identification upon review. 

C. The record shall include: 
1. All materials, pleadings, memoranda, stipulations and 

motions submitted by any party to the proceeding and recorded or 
considered by the approval authority as evidence; 

2. All materials submitted by the planner to the approval 
authority with respect to the application including in the case of an 
appeal taken pursuant to Section 17.162.270, the record of the 
planner's decision as provided by Section 17.162.110; 

3. The transcript of the hearing, if requested by the 
council or a party, or the minutes of the hearing, or other evidence 
of the proceedings before the approval authority; 

4. The written findings, conclusions, decision and, if 
any, conditions of approval of the approval authority; 

5. Argument by the parties or their legal representatives 
permitted in Section 17 .162. 300 at the time of review before the 
council; 

6. All correspondence relating to the application; and 
7. A copy of the notice which was given as provided by 

Section 17.162.030, accompanying affidavits and list of persons who 

41



were sent mailed notice. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.240 Form of the final decision. A. The final decision 
shall be a decision which is in writing and which has been signed by 
the planner. 

B. The final decision shall be filed in the records of the 
planner within ten calendar days after the decision is made by the 
approval authority and notice thereof shall be mailed to the 
applicant and all parties in the action, and shall be available to 
the approval authority. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.250 Notice of final decision. A. Notice of a final 
decision shall briefly summarize the decision and contain: 

1. A statement that all required notices under Section 
17.162.025; 

2. A statement of where the adopted findings of fact, 
decision and statement of conditions can be obtained; 

3. The date the final decision was filed; and 
4. A statement of whether a party to the proceeding may 

seek appeal of the decision, as appropriate, to wit: 
a. In the case of a final decision by the council, the 

statement shall explain that this decision is final and how appeal 
may be heard by a higher authority; or 

b. In the case of a final decision by the planning 
commission, the statement shall explain briefly how an appeal can be 
taken to the council pursuant to Section 17.162.290, the deadlines, 
and where information can be obtained. 

B. Notice of the final decision by the planning commission or 
council shall be mailed to the applicant and to all the parties to 
the decision and shall be made available to the members of the 
council. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.260 Amending a decision by the planner. A. The planner may 
issue an amended decision after the notice of final decision has been 
issued and prior to the end of the ten-day appeal period. 

B. A request for an amended decision shall be in writing and 
filed with the planner not more than eight days after the notice of 
final decision has been filed. 

C. A request for an amended decision may be filed by: 
1. The recognized neighborhood planning organization 

affected by the initial decision; 
2. Resolution of the city council; 
3. Resolution of the planning commission; 
4. The planner; 
5. Any party entitled to notice of the original decision; 

or 
6. Any party who submitted comments in writing on the 

original decision. 
D. The amended decision process shall be limited to one time 

for each original application. 
E. The planner shall make the determination as to issuance of 

an amended decision based on findings that one or more of the 
following conditions exist: 

1. An error or omission was made on the original notice of 
final decision; 

2. The original decision was based on incorrect 
information and incorrect information may only be considered in 
administrative actions before the planner; 

3. New information becomes available during the appeal 
period which was not available when the decision was made which 
alters the facts or conditions in the original decision. New 
information may only be considered in administrative actions before 

42



the planner. 
F. An amended decision shall be processed in accordance with 

Section 17.162.120 of this title. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.270 Standing to appeal. A. In the case of a decision by 
the planner, any person entitled to notice of the decision under this 
chapter, or any person who is adversely affected or aggrieved by the 
decision, may file a notice of appeal as provided by Section 
17.162.320. 

B. In the case of a decision by the planning commission, 
except for a decision on an appeal of the planner's decision, any 
person shall be considered a party to a matter, thus having standing 
to seek appeal, provided: 

1. The person appeared before the planning commission 
orally or in writing: 

a. The person was entitled as of right to notice and 
hearing prior to the decision to be reviewed; or 
b. The person is aggrieved or has interests adversely affected by the 
decision. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.280 Computation of appeal period. A. The length of the 
appeal period shall be fifteen days from the date of mailing the 
notice of decision. 

B. In computing the length of the appeal period, the day that 
notice of the decision is mailed shall be excluded and the last day 
for filing the appeal shall be included unless the last day falls on 
a legal holiday for the city or on a Saturday, in which case, the 
last day shall be the next business day. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 
1995) 

17.162.290 Determination of appropriate appeal body. A. All 
appeals of decisions or interpretations made by the planner may be 
appealed to the planning commission or pursuant to Section 17.162.090 
except the council may, on its own motion, seek to hear the matter by 
voice vote prior to the effective date of the notice of the decision. 

B. Any decision made by the planning commission under this 
chapter may be reviewed by the council by: 

1. The filing of a notice of appeal as provided by Section 
17.162.320, by any party to the decision by three thirty p.m. on the 
last day of the appeal period; 

2. The council or planning commission, on its own motion, 
seeking appeal by voice vote prior to the end of the appeal period; 
or 

3. Referral of a matter under Section 17.162.090 (D) by 
the initial hearings body to the council, upon closure of the 
hearing, when the case presents a policy issue which requires council 
deliberation and determination, in which case the council shall 
decide the application. 

c. Failure to file an available appeal shall be deemed a 
failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The filing of available 
appeals is a condition precedent to appeal to the land use board of 
appeals. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.300 Type of appeal hearing--Limitations of appeal. A. The 
appeal of a decision made by the planner under Section 17.162.090(A) 
or Section 17.162.110, shall be confined to the prior record and 
conducted as if brought under Section 17.162.090(B) or (C). 

B. The appeal of a decision of the planning commission to the 
council shall be: 

1. Confined to the record of the proceedings unless 
council determines the admission of additional evidence is 

43



appropriate; 
2. Limited to the grounds relied upon in the notice of 

appeal and the hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the 
provisions of this chapter. 

C. The subject of written and oral argument. Such written 
argument shall be submitted not less than five days prior to council 
consideration; and 

D. Reviews on the record by council of planning commission 
decisions shall be completed within forty days of when the notice of 
appeal is filed. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.310 Transcripts. A. The appellant shall be responsible to 
satisfy all costs incurred for preparation of the transcript. An 
estimated payment shall be made prior to the preparation of the 
transcript; any additional actual cost shall be paid prior to the 
hearing or if the actual cost is less than the estimate the remainder 
shall be returned. 

B. Any party other than the appellant that requests a 
transcript shall be charged the actual copy costs. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. 
A (part), 1995) 

17.162.320 Notice of appeal. A. The notice of appeal shall be 
filed within the appeal period and contain: 

1. A reference to the application sought to be appealed; 
2. A statement of the petitioner's standing to the appeal; 
3. The specific grounds for the appeal; and 
4. The date of the final decision on the action or, in the 

case of a decision by the planner, the date the decision was filed; 
B. The appeal application shall be accompanied by the 

required fee except as allowed under Section 17.162.330. (Ord. 634 §1 
Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.330 Fee waivers. A. Fees for land use applications and 
appeals of a land use decision shall be waived for a recognized 
neighborhood planning organization (NPO) if all of the following 
conditions are met: 

1. The appeal or land use application must have been 
supported by a majority vote of NPO members at a public meeting where 
a quorum of NPO members was present; 

2. A copy of the minutes of the NPO meeting where the 
appeal or land use application was initiated must be submitted with 
the appeal or land use application; 

3. The appeal or application will be considered valid when 
conditions (1) and (2) of this section are met and all other filing 
requirements are met; and 

4. The NPO chairperson or designated representative shall 
appear at the next available city council meeting after the 
application or appeal is filed to request a waiver. The NPO shall 
work through the Planning Division to schedule the item on a council 
agenda. 

B. Council may, on its own motion, waive the land use 
application or appeal fee for other nonprofit organizations. (Ord. 
791 §3, 2007; Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.340 Persons entitled to notice of appeal--Type of notice. 
Upon appeal, notice shall be given to parties entitled to notice 
under Sections 17.162.025 and 17.162.270. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 
1995) 

17.162.350 Contents of notice of appeal. 
those matters provided by Section 17.162.030. 

Notice shall include 
(Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A 

44



(part), 1995) 

17.162.360 Action on appeal. A. The appellate authority shall 
affirm, reverse or modify the decision which is the subject of the 
appeal; however, the decision shall be made in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 17.162.140; or 

B. Upon the written consent of all parties to extend the one 
hundred twenty-day limit, the appellate authority may remand the 
matter if it is satisfied that testimony or other evidence could not 
have been presented or was not available at the time of the initial 
hearing. In deciding to remand the matter, the appellate authority 
shall consider and make findings and conclusions regarding: 

1. The prejudice to parties, 
2. The convenience or availability of evidence at the time 

of the initial hearing, 
3. The surprise to opposing parties, 
4. The date notice was given to other parties as to an 

attempt to admit, or 
5. The competency, relevancy and materiality of the 

proposed testimony or other evidence. (Ord. 634 §1 Exh. A (part), 
1995) 

17.162.380 Effective date of final action. A. Within ten days 
of the filing of the final order of council, the planner shall give 
notice of the final order to all parties to the proceeding, informing 
them of the date of filing, the decision rendered, and where a copy 
may be found. 

B. Action by the appellate authority on appeal shall be final and 
effective on the day of mailing notice of the final order. (Ord. 634 
§1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

17.162.390 Revocation of approvals. 
may, after a hearing conducted pursuant 
revoke any approval granted pursuant to 
following reasons: 

A. The hearings authority 
to this chapter, modify or 
this chapter for any of the 

1. A material misrepresentation or mistake of fact made by 
the applicant in the application or in testimony and evidence 
submitted, whether such misrepresentation be intentional or 
unintentional; 

2. A failure to comply with the terms and conditions of 
approval; 

3. A failure to use the premises in accordance with the 
terms of the approval; or 

4. A material misrepresentation or mistake of fact or 
policy by the city in the written or oral report regarding the matter 
whether such misrepresentation be intentional or unintentional. 

B. In the case of a decision made by the planner, the hearing 
on whether to modify or revoke an approval shall be held by the 
planning commission. 

C. A petition for appeal of a revocation or modification may 
be filed in the same manner as provided by Section 17.162.290. (Ord. 
634 §1 Exh. A (part), 1995) 

45



46



DCTA2-18 December 6, 2018 
Food Cart Pod Permit- Chapter 17.126 

Request: 

Applicant: 

EXHIBITS 

CITY OF SCAPPOOSE STAFF REPORT 

Approval of Development Code Text Amendment DCTA2-18 to make the 
following legislative changes to the Development Code: 
1. The addition of a new Chapter to the Development Code, Chapter 17 .126 -

Food Cart Pod Permits. 
2. An amendment to Chapters 17.62 -General Commercial (C) and 17.68-

Expanded Commercial (EC) to add food cart pods as a permitted use. 
3. An amendment to Chapters 17.69-Public Use Airport (PUA) and 17.70-Light 

Industrial (LI) to add food cart pods as a conditional use. 
4. An amendment to Chapter 17 .162 - Procedures for Decision Making--Quasi

Judicial to clarify the approval process for food cart pod permits. 

City of Scappoose 

A. Current draft of proposed Chapter 17.126 -Food Cart Pod Permits 
B. Current draft of proposed amendments to Chapters 17.62 -General Commercial (C) and 

17.68- Expanded Commercial (EC) 
C. Current draft of proposed amendments to Chapters 17.69-Public Use Airport (PUA) and 

17.70-Light Industrial (LI) 
D. Current draft of proposed amendments to Chapter 17.162-Proceduresfor Decision 

Making--Quasi-Judicial 

INTRODUCTION 
An identified City Council goal for FYl 8-19 was to explore a food cart ordinance since the 

only method the City currently has to allow food carts is through the issuance of a Temporary 
Use Permit, which is only good for 90-days, is intended to celebrate a specific season or event 
(e.g., a Christmas tree stand or fireworks stand), does not have development standards, and is not 
renewable during the calendar year it is issued in. 

City staff kicked off the food cart ordinance discussion during July 2018 with an introductory 
work session on the topic with City Council. Planning Department staff drafted a new 
development code chapter, Chapter 17.126 -Food Cart Pod Permits, and held a second work 
session with Council in September 2018 in order to gain feedback on the draft development code 
language. 

47



DCTA2-18 December 6, 2018 
Food Cart Pod Permit- Chapter 17.126 

Some of the main topics of discussion during work session #2 involved: 
• Where should food carts be allowed? 
• Utility considerations 
• Parking considerations 
• Site Design Standards 
• Review type and length of approval 

Based on feedback received during the September work session, as well as input from the 
Economic Development Committee members, Planning Department staff revised the draft 
development code language and brought back the amended draft for a third and final work 
session with Council in early November 2018. Discussions during the third work session were 
limited to minor clarifications and a final review of the draft development code. 

ANALYSIS 
The proposed amendments to the Development Code are intended to allow individual 

entrepreneurship at a small scale and to provide unique eating establishments to the public, while 
ensuring that food carts are conducted as lawful uses and in a manner that is not detrimental or 
disruptive in terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties and residents. 

AGENCY COMMENTS & PUBLIC NOTICE 
The City Manager, Chief of Police, Public Works Director, City Engineer, Fire Marshal and the 

Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) have been provided the 
opportunity to review copies of this application. No objections to the proposal have been 
received and feedback from the Fire Marshall has been incorporated into the approval criteria. 

Notice of the proposed amendments to the Development Code was published in the local 
newspaper on November 30, 2018 and December 7, 2018, as required by Chapter 17.160 of the 
Development Code. Staff has received no written comments from the public regarding this 
application as of the date of this report. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Based on the applicable statutes, rules, comprehensive plan provisions and implementing 

ordinances, staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend adoption of the 
proposed amendments by the City Council. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. The following Statewide Planning Goals have been considered by the City of Scappoose in 
the formation of the language contained within this request: 

Goal 1: Citizen Involvement 
Objective: To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the opportunity for citizens 
to be involved in all phases of the planning process. 

48



DCTA2-18 December 6, 2018 
Food Cart Pod Permit-Chapter 17.126 

Finding: 
This application complies with the citizen involvement processes included in the City's 
acknowledged Comprehensive Plan and Development Code, which is consistent with 
Statewide Planning Goal 1. The Planning Commission and City Council hold public hearings 
on the proposal prior to adopting any amendments to the Scappoose Municipal Code. Notice 
of the proposal and hearings was published in the local newspaper on November 30, 2018 
and December 7, 2018. 

Citizens may submit written or verbal testimony to communicate their input into the 
proposed Development Code amendments. For this application, the Planning Commission's 
hearing date is December 13, 2018, while the City Council's hearing date is January 7, 2019 
for the first reading and January 22, 2019 for the second reading. This process complies with 
Goal 1. 

Goal 2: Land Use Planning 
Objective: To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all 
decision and actions related to use of land and to assure an adequate factual base for such 
decisions and actions. 

Finding: 
The proposal to amend the Development Code is consistent with the City's regulations 
regarding legislative land use decisions. Legislative decisions require a Planning Commission 
recommendation to the City Council, which then makes a decision based on stated findings. 
The Planning Commission and City Council hearings are open to the public. 

The procedural requirements for the proposed Development Code amendments involve 
assessment of the application's merits, notice to affected parties, and public hearings. Notice 
of the proposed amendment has been provided to the Oregon Department of Land 
Conservation and Development (DLCD) as required. The City's decision is based on findings 
of fact. This action complies with Goal 2. 

Goal 9: Economic Development 
Objective: To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of economic 
activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon's citizens. 

Finding: 
By establishing standards whereby, a food cart owner can establish a small-scale year-round 
business, the City is supporting entrepreneurship which will lead to an increase in eating 
establishments and will promote overall commerce within the City. This action complies with 
Goal 9. 

Statewide Planning Goals 3-8 and 10-19 are not applicable to this application. 

49



DCTA2-18 December 6, 2018 
Food Cart Pod Permit- Chapter 17.126 

2. The following Goals and Policies from the Scappoose Comprehensive Plan have been 
considered by the City of Scappoose in the formation of the language contained within this 
proposal: 

GENERAL GOALS OF THE CITY OF SCAPPOOSE FOR LAND USES 

19) Citizen participation will continue to be an important element of the City's land use 
planning process. Besides public hearings held by the Planning Commission and City 
Council, the City shall utilize the local newspaper and radio station to keep populace 
informed of land use issues. The City shall also publish quarterly a summary of past and 
future activities. 

Finding: 
Notice of the proposed amendments to the Development Code has been published in the local 
newspaper to inform citizens of the opportunity to participate in the review and decision
making process. The applicable GENERAL GOAL OF THE CITY OF SCAPPOOSE FOR 
LAND USES is satisfied. 

GOALS FOR ECONOMICS 

It is the goal of the City of Scappoose to: 

1) Maintain conditions favorable for a growing, healthy, stable, and diversified business 
and industrial climate. 

[. . .} 

Finding: 
By establishing standards whereby, a food cart owner can establish a small-scale year-round 
business, the City is supporting entrepreneurship which will lead to an increase in eating 
establishments and will promote overall commerce within the City. The applicable GOALS 
FOR ECONOMICS are satisfied. 

POLICIES FOR THE COMMERCIAL LAND USE DESIGNATION 

[. . .} 

2) Encourage the preservation, improvement, expansion, and renewal of the City's existing 
business district and implement the adopted Downtown Scappoose Plan supporting the 
existing business district in its role as a center of economic and civic activity for the entire 
community. 

3) Encourage the filling-in of vacancies in present commercial strips, together with design 
features that would reduce conflict with traffic flow, such as frontage roads and single access 
joint off-street parking. 

50



DCTA2-18 December 6, 2018 
Food Cart Pod Permit- Chapter 17.126 

4) Locate business activities in clusters for the convenience of the public to be served rather 
than scattered or mixed with non-commercial land uses. 

5) Allow a wide variety of business, office, and service uses, including motels, hotels, and 
rooming houses; however, care must be taken to ensure that non-retail uses such as 
apartments do not prevent the establishment of compact, clustered business centers. 

Finding: 
Creating regulations aimed at allowing food carts on a year-round basis will encourage the 
preservation, expansion and renewal of the existing commercial district. Food cart pods will 
also support a pedestrian oriented downtown district which will complement existing 
businesses and contribute to a vibrant center for economic activity. The applicable Policies 
for the Commercial Land Use Designation are satisfied. 

3. The following sections of Title 1 7 of the Scappoose Municipal Code (Scappoose 
Development Code) have been considered by the City of Scappoose in the formation of the 
language contained within this proposal: 

Chapter 17.22 AMENDMENTS TO THE TITLE, COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, AND MAPS 
17.22.040 Approval criteria. Planning commission review and recommendation, and Council 
approval, of an ordinance amending the comprehensive plan, the zoning map, or this title 
shall be based on the following criteria: 

A. If the proposal involves an amendment to the comprehensive plan, the amendment is 
consistent with the Statewide Planning Goals and relevant Oregon Revised Statutes and 
Administrative Rules; 

B. The proposal is consistent with the comprehensive plan (although the comprehensive 
plan may be amended concurrently with proposed changes in zoning or this title), the 
standards of this title, or other applicable implementing ordinances; 

C. The change will not adversely affect the health, safety, and welfare of the community; 
D. The proposal either responds to changes in the community or it corrects a mistake or 

inconsistency in the comprehensive plan, the zoning map, or this title; and 
[. . .] 

Finding: The proposal to add Chapter 17.126, and to amend Chapters 17.62, 17.68, 17.69, 
17. 70 and 17 .162 of the Scappoose Development Code agrees with the applicable goals and 
policies of the Scappoose Comprehensive Plan and adheres to the necessary ordinances 
regarding decision making and noticing. The proposed code amendments will not adversely 
affect the health, safety or welfare of the community. This proposal responds to changes in 
the community since the City Council recognized a need to set regulations pertaining to food 
cart pods since they are increasing in popularity and previously the City did not have a way to 
permit them long term, nor were there any development standards regarding individual food 
carts or food cart pods. Section 17.22.040 is satisfied. 

51



DCTA2-18 December 6, 2018 
Food Cart Pod Permit- Chapter 17.126 

Chapter 17.160 PROCEDURES FOR DECISION MAKING-LEGISLATIVE 

17.160.120 The standards {Or the decision. A. The recommendation by the planning 
commission and the decision by the council shall be based on consideration of the following 
factors: 
1. Any applicable statewide planning goals and guidelines adopted under Oregon Revised 
Statutes Chapter 197; 
2. Any federal or state statutes or rules found applicable; 
3. The applicable comprehensive plan policies and map; and 
4. The applicable provisions of the implementing ordinances. 
B. Consideration may also be given to: 
Proof of a substantial change in circumstances, a mistake, or inconsistency in the 
comprehensive plan or implementing ordinance which is the subject of the application. 

Finding: 
The Planning Commission's recommendations and the City Council's decisions are based on 
applicable statewide planning goals and guidelines, state statutes and rules, Comprehensive 
Plan policies, and provisions of the Scappoose Municipal Code, as detailed in the findings. 
The City has publicized the proposed amendments and will hold hearings in accordance with 
applicable laws. The City is amending the Development Code to adopt regulations that will 
allow food cart pods to operate on a year-round basis in a manner that is not detrimental or 
disruptive in terms of appearance or operation to neighboring properties and residents. 
Section 17.160.120 is satisfied. 

52



City of Scappoose 

Council Action & Status Report 

Date Submitted: 1/2/19 

Agenda Date Requested: 1/7/19 

To: Scappoose City Council 

From: Public Works Director, Dave Sukau 

Subject: Water Management and Conservation Plan 

Type of Action Requested: 

[ ] Resolution Ordinance 

[ x ] Formal Action 

[ 

[ 

] 

] Report Only 

Background: In 2017, the City of Scappoose signed into a Master Agreement with 
Carollo Engineers, Inc. A part of the Agreement was to update the City's 2012 Water 
Management and Conservation Plan (Task 1200). The purpose of this update will be to 
reflect changes in demand since 2012 and to identify the new Dutch Canyon Well as an 
added source. Updates to this Plan are a requirement of OAR 690-086. 

Benefits: This Document assists the City to identify current and future water needs, 
methods of conservation and a plan for water curtailment in the event of a shortage. 

Recommended Motion: Staff recommends City Council authorize City Manager Sykes 
to submit the Draft Water Management and Conservation Plan to the Oregon Water 
Resources Division for Regulatory Review. 

1

5



""U 
c: 
c c: 
+- c c: - c (I) a_ 0 ·-.... E Q) a c: en .... 

0 c (I) 0 0 Q) 
a. en 

0-Q) O> ·~ a. .. -a A. --c c u - "' V) ·- --u -c: > .... c 0 :::> c ~ >- 0 .... u (I) ·-
~ u >-Vl .... ) ·-c: u 
~ 0 (I) u +-c 
~ 

2



Agenda 

• Purpose of a Water Management and Conservation Plan 

• Why we are updating this Plan 

• Discuss Current Water System and Usage 

• Discuss Future Water Usage and System needs 

• Methods for Water Conservation 

• Water Curtailment 

• Next Steps 

• Questions 

3



~··~.,; :.:..:·•:c: ·.:.:,,:o ·.~ .•.• -·-· ... ·~~-...,__ 

Purpose of a Water Management and Conservation Plan 

• Define the City's current and future water resources and needs by describing the following: 

- Source of supply reliability and capacity 

- Current and future estimated population and water demands 

- Existing water rights inventory 

- Current and planned Water Conservation Program 

- Water Curtailment Plan 

4



Why we are updating this Plan 

• Update required as a condition of the Dutch Canyon Well #2 water right 

• Required by OAR 690 chapter 86 every 10 years 

5



IE -=·· .. 
"" ---------

I 

Current Water System 

/_,_ 
• :::;;: 

Water is supplied evenly between three 
sources 

6



Current Water Usage 

1.40 I Well P-W 

1.20 1-----------------i • WellMR-3 
i;iWell MR-1 

Surface 1DO 
S' 
~0.00 
..... 
~ 0.6{) 
It 

0.40 

0.20 

0.00 • ' " ' " ' " ' . " ' 

- ~ 
·f 

~ ~ -~ _.Ji, _s,\ .Jt A ~ ~ ~ 1}. 
'>-s P;~ _, ~- R. -~ ~~ · # ~<::-'- ~ ~ 

't'-:s _,..,'i..v.. o?i iii"'. di ·l '-~ ~ 
~~.. ~o <:JlJ ' 

-0 
tJ) 

a;:; 

S O.G 

" c. 

?:- / \ 1--c,.,,,"'"' ~ 0 .4 ~e:m:l-"'1~1 
:i , T \ --.,()lll~'~lill 
>-

J;l 

~ o .::.1 \ :;1 ............... -""' I _.,._ 1nu i.r~~ 1e11 ·a 
§ ..._._. Maiiubc.:lurlVJ 
~ Q_2 Hc:nu! 
0 

~ ~ ~ 0,1 

~ ._. • r' .... 

_... P\til" L• nuo 

o.o I 
J;m I 1>1> t.1 ;ir Apr M'"r Jun Jul A1.9 Ec:p Oc l Ne; •; (l"c 

Month 

7



Future Water Usage (proiected) 

5.0 - • 

35 
:C-
CII 

.5. 3.0 .,, 
c; e 2.5 

8 
:; 2.0 

~ 
s: 1.5 .P.....-r-1 

1.0 

0.5 +---+-~ 

0.0 +----+--~-+---+----+----l---~--l---+---
2!Y11 2014 2!Y17 2020 2D23 2026 202ll 2032 2035 2000 

Year 

- Proiected MOOMedi11n - Pr"ciec:l!!dADD MediJm -~~~ -HS~ Miio I 

Demands 

• 2018 - ADD 0.98 (mgd) / MDD 1.79 (mgd) 

• 2028 - ADD 1.36 (mgd) / MDD 2.40 (mgd) 

• 2038 - ADD 1.73 (mgd) / MDD 2.97 (mgd) 

Supply 

Total ability to supply is 1.49 (mgd) 

Total reliable ability to supply is 1.1 3 (mgd) 

8



Future System needs 

4.5 ,....-,----rr7="==---1T-::=:::-11~~=w=:,:~1 
4.0 

3.5 +--~--< 

;J 3.0 

"' E 
:;; 25 
c .. 
~ 2.0 
c 

i15g ! ' I I I I 1 1 I : I -1 ~ 
10 I ' I I I I ' ' 

0.5 +--~--+---+---+--____,r-----;--~---i---+---+~r--+---+----< 

0. 0 -1--~-'--~--"---+----1---~-~--+---'--+---"'--~---+---I 

2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026 202B 2030 2032 2034 2036 2038 

Year 
--Projected MDD Medium --Existing Supply - Existi ng ReliableSuppfy 
- - lmoroved SupoJv - - lmoroved Reliable Su - ADD 

• Complete Dutch Canyon Well #2 

• Construct Wells #4 & #5 for Miller Rd. Plant 

• Possible new Well at Dutch Canyon Site 

• City to 'identify Long_-Term Supplies 

9



- ·-- . .. --· ·--·--------··-----

Measures for Water 
Conservation 

• R&R of aging water distribution system 

• Annual Water Audit 

• Full Metering of the System 

• Meter testing and maintenance 

• Conservation Rate Structure 

• Leak Detection 

• Public Education 

10



Water Curtailment 

CtKtailment I · Trigger I UsageG.Reduction I ReductionMeasures 
Tier oal 

Vol..itary 

TierlMild 

Projected 
supply 

limitations 

Use .re-aches 
85 percent of 
capacity of 

three 
consecutive 
days and/or 

state drought 
declaration 

affect ing 

service area 

Awareness and 

Spercent 
reduction in 

daily demand 

10 percent 
reduction in 
demand 

Implement Curtailment Plan. 

Public. notification and awareness. 

Personal' water conservation measure 
education. 

Voluntary irrigation reduction. 

• Prioritized Notification Methods: 

Door hangers/Bill stuffer>,Web page. 

Continu.,all Voluntal}'measures. 

Stop system flushing except for 

ess.altial needs. 

Reduce municipal irrigation and 
aesthetic uses and post information 
explainingredoction. 

Restrict landS"'~pe watering to e1.ien ing 
hours. 

Restrict pavement washing t o ne...:ls 
related to healtll. 

Prohibit un-valved vehicle washing. 

Prohibit bui lding d eaning. 

Prioritized Notifi<ation Metnods: 

Posters/sandvrich boards/Web 
page/Media. 

Curtailment I Trigger I Usage ReductiOJ'I I Reduction Measures 
Tie-r Goal 

T1er2 
Modera,te 

Tie.r3Critic:aJ 

Use· reaches 
9C> per-cent of 
capacity for 

tvro 
oonsecutive 

days 

Use reach.-=s 
95 pescent o f 
ca pacify f o r 

one day 

15percent. 
reduction in 

demand 

20 per.cent 
reduction [n 

demand 

Co:ntinueaUTterlmeasures 
Prohibit landscape watering 
between 7 am -1.lpm 

Restrict landscape watel'ing to every 

SU' day o n an alternating schedule 

Cease municipal water uses such as 
street deaning.. flushing (unless 
health related)1 pa:rfc and landscape 
irrigation 

Prohib tt:Ye h iclewashing outside of 
commercial facilities 

Proh ibrt: non-irrigation outdoor 
water" use except when required fo.:r 
public health 

Request businesses reduce demand 
t>y10% 

Prioritized Notification Methods! 

Medi..irl<>Df" 
t>a.ngersJPosters/Sandwich 
boards/Web 

Continue Tier 2 me.asu.res 

Prohibit Ea ndscape watering e xcept 
for hand watering of new trees and 
shrubs 

Proh ibit vehicle v.rash.ing with City 
sltpp liied water 

P rioritized Notification Met.hods: 

Media/Door 
ftangers}Poste.rs.;'Sandvirich 
boardS/\'.reb 

I 

11



.. -..... ,,~ ·· Ja•_., ;>o-- ·· ····-··~~- --

Next Steps 

• Council approval to submit Agency Draft for regulatory review 

• Regulatory review 

• Council adoption of plan after regulatory review 

12



(\)• 
(/) 

c: 
0 ·-+-
(/) 

Q) 
::::> 

0 

13



CITY OF SCAPPOOSE 

Council Action & Status Report 

Date Submitted: December 17, 2018 

Agenda Date Requested: January 7, 2019 

To: Scappoose City Council 

From: Huell White, City Intern 

Subject: Community Survey Results Summary 

TYPE OF ACTION REQUESTED: 

[ ] Resolution [ ] Ordinance 

[ ] Formal Action [ x ] Report Only 

REPORT: 

In its 2018-2019 Goals, City Council identified that conducting a community survey 
would further the Council's communication goals. The community survey was timed to 
coincide with and inform the Annual Town Meeting (ATM) on February 9th. The survey 
was developed with the intention of being conducted each year prior to the ATM. 

City staff received 339 survey responses during the two-month survey period from 
October to December. The survey asked residents to rate their satisfaction with a 
variety of city-provided services. Additionally, the survey included pedestrian-centered 
transportation questions - a central theme to the ATM, as well as component of the 
Council's transportation improvements and livability objectives. An overview of the 
survey results is included below, complete results are attached as Exhibit A. A copy of 
the community survey is included as Exhibit B. 

Satisfaction of City Services 
65% of respondents are satisfied with new parks, improvements, and 
maintenance 

o However, 46% indicated neutral for community events 

Request for Council Action 

6

1



75% are satisfied or very satisfied with the cleanliness of streets and public 
spaces 
61 % are satisfied with drinking water quality, whereas 22% are dissatisfied or 
very dissatisfied 

Livability 
87% are satisfied with Scappoose as a place to live 
26% are dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with how the city is planning growth; 
41 % are neutral to the subject 

Transportation 
35% are dissatisfied with surface quality of streets in the city 
41 % are dissatisfied with pothole repair and other street quality issues 
34% rated sidewalks and roads in their neighborhood as either failing or poor 
83% indicated that it is important or very important that the city improve or 
develop safe pedestrian routes to schools 
89% indicated that it is important that the city develop and maintain sidewalks 
and roads 

Local Gas Tax 
48% are supportive 
33% are unsupportive 
17% are neutral 
2% do not know 

Request for Council Action 

2



Demographics 

Q1 Age 18-24 Age 25-34 Age 35-44 Age 45-54 Age 55-64 Age 65+ 

0.90% 12.84% 22.00% 16.12% 18.51% 29.55% 
Q2 <1 years 1-5 years 6-10 years 11-15 years 16-20 years 21-25 years 25+ years 

9.12% 20.67% 9.42% 14.29% 6.99% 10.94% 28.57% 

Services 

Very Dissatisfied Dissatisfied Neutral Satisfied Very Satisfied No. Skipped 
Q3 Parks 2.10% 6.31% 26.13% 42.04% 23.42% 6 
Q4 Events 2.14% 15.29% 46.18% 27.22% 9.17% 12 
Q5 Street cleaning 1.19% 7.74% 16.07% 52.38% 22.62% 3 
Q6 Street Lighting 3.30% 18.32% 24.32% 40.54% 13.51% 6 
Q7 Street surface quality 8.66% 26.27% 27.76% 28.36% 8.96% 4 

QB Street repair 11.28% 29.97% 24.33% 27.30% 7.12% 2 
Q9 Planning services 5.33% 7.52% 59.56% 21.63% 5.96% 20 
QlO Code enforcement 5.26% 11.76% 46.75% 27.55% 8.67% 16 
Q11 Police response time 0% 0.96% 44.27% 30.57% 24.20% 25 
Q12 Police response quality 0.64% 1.61% 41.48% 31.83% 24.44% 28 
Q13 Traffic enforcement 7.90% 12.77% 26.44% 35.26% 17.63% 10 
Q14 Court 0.66% 1.65% 72.28% 18.81% 6.60% 36 
Q15 Water 8.41% 13.21% 17.72% 40.54% 20.12% 6 
Q16 Wastewater 3.66% 7.93% 28.05% 38.72% 21.65% 11 
Q17 Storm 5.79% 9.45% 30.79% 40.55% 13.41% 11 
Q18 Bi ling 1.52% 5.76% 28.48% 38.79% 25.45% 9 
Q19 Staff 0.62% 3.38% 30.46% 32.92% 32.62% 14 

Quality of life indicators 

Q20 Live 1.81% 2.72% 8.76% 46.83% 39.88% 8 
Q21 Work 6.43% 12.86% 51.77% 17.68% 11.25% 28 

Q22 Raise children 0.94% 3.76% 23.82% 39.81% 31.66% 20 
Q23 Retire 3.70% 8.33% 32.41% 29.94% 25.62% 15 

Q24 Overall quality 0.61% 5.17% 16.41% 54.71% 23.10% 10 
Q25 Planning growth 9.32% 17.39% 40.99% 25.47% 6.83% 17 
Q26 Value for taxes/fees 7.32% 17.99% 37.20% 30.79% 6.71% 11 

Transportation 

3



NE SE SW NW N/A No. Skipped 

Q27 Quadrant of city 16.17% 29.34% 29.04% 19.46% 5.99% 5 

Failing Poor Fair Good Excellent No. Skipped 

Q28 Sidewalk/road quality 10.67% 23.78% 24.70% 31.10% 9.76% 11 

Don't Know Not Important Neutral Important Very Important No. Skipped 

Q29 Routes to school 0.91% 3.33% 12.73% 37.88% 45.15% 9 

Q30 Dev./maint. Of sidewalks/r 0.60% 1.20% 9.34% 46.69% 42.17% 7 

Gas Tax Support 

Don't Know Not Supportive Neutral Supportive Very Supportive No. Skipped 

Q31 Gas tax 2.41% 32.53% 17.17% 26.81% 21.08% 7 

4



Community Survey 

The City of Scappoose would appreciate your participation in completing the Scappoose Community Survey. Your 
feedback will give us valuable information about how we are doing and how we can provide better services to the 
residents of Scappoose. Please take the survey and then join your neighbors on February 9, 2019 for our Annual Town 
Meeting at the Scappoose Middle School Cafeteria from 9:00 AM -12:00 PM. Thank you for your commitment to our 
community. - Michael Sykes, City Manager 

You may complete this paper survey and either return it with your monthly utility bill payment or drop it in the white payment 

drop box behind City Hall at 33568 E Columbia Ave by December 15, 2018. Alternatively, this survey may also be taken online 

at www.surveymonkey.com/r/scappoosecommunitysurvev by December 15, 2018 

Please tell us about yourself ... 

What is your age? UNDER 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ 

How many years have you lived in Scappoose? LESS THAN 1 YEAR 1-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 21-25 25+ 

VERY VERY 

On a scale of 1 to 5, please rate your satisfaction with DISSATISFIED NEUTRAL SATISFIED 

each of the City services or facilities below: 1 2 3 4 5 

Parks - new parks, improvements, and maintenance 0 0 0 0 0 

Community events 0 0 0 0 0 

Cleanliness of streets and public areas 0 0 0 0 0 

Street lighting 0 0 0 0 0 

Street surface quality 0 0 0 0 0 

Street pothole repair and street quality issues 0 0 0 0 0 

Planning & zoning services, permitting, and development assistance 0 0 0 0 0 

Enforcement of local codes and nuisance ordinances 0 0 0 0 0 

Police response time 0 0 0 0 0 

Police response quality 0 0 0 0 0 

Enforcement of speed and traffic laws 0 0 0 0 0 

Municipal court services 0 0 0 0 0 

Drinking water quality 0 0 0 0 0 

Sewer/wastewater services 0 0 0 0 0 

Stormwater drainage and runoff 0 0 0 0 0 

Utility billing customer service 0 0 0 0 0 

Quality of interactions with city staff 0 0 0 0 0 5



VERY VERY 

On a scale of 1 to 51 please rate your level of DISSATISFIED NEUTRAL SATISFIED 

satisfaction with the following quality of life indicators: 1 2 3 4 5 

Scappoose as a place to live 0 0 0 0 0 

Scappoose as a place to work 0 0 0 0 0 

Scappoose as a place to raise children 0 0 0 0 0 

Scappoose as a place to retire 0 0 0 0 0 

Overall quality of life in the city 0 0 0 0 0 

How the city is planning growth 0 0 0 0 0 

Value you receive for your taxes & fees 0 0 0 0 0 

In its 2018-2019 Goals & Objectives, the Scappoose City Council expressed the intention to promote transportation 

improvements that enhance community livability. To achieve this goal, the Council identified several objectives, which 

include the development of: a pavement management program, a sidewalk improvement program, and a sidewalk plan with 

a focus on safety corridors and funding options. 

Please indicate which quadrant of Scappoose you live in: 

NORTHEAST SOUTHEAST SOUTHWEST 

How would you rate the condition of sidewalks and roads in your neighborhood? 

FAILING 

0 
POOR 

0 
FAIR 

0 

NORTHWEST 

GOOD 

0 
How important is it that the city improve or develop safe pedestrian routes to schools? 

DON'T KNOW 

0 
NOT IMPORTANT 

0 
NEUTRAL IMPORTANT 

0 0 
How important is the development and maintenance of sidewalks and roads in the scope of city services? 

N/A 

EXCELLENT 

0 

VERY IMPORTANT 

0 

DON'T KNOW NOT IMPORTANT NEUTRAL IMPORTANT VERY IMPORTANT 

0 0 0 0 0 
What level of support would you have for a local fuel tax option of $0.03 per gallon of gasoline and diesel - paid by all 
motorists who purchase fuel in Scappoose - to fund sidewalk and road improvements? 

DON'T KNOW 

0 
NOT SUPPORTIVE 

0 
NEUTRAL 

0 
SUPPORTIVE VERY SUPPORTIVE 

0 0 

Thank you for helping make Scappoose a better place! Join your neighbors on February 9, 2019 at the Scappoose Middle School 

cafeteria for our Annual Town Meeting, where you can hear about what's going on in the City and let your voice be heard! To 

receive updates about the Annual Town Meeting, please provide your contact information below: 

NAME: PHONE: 

ADDRESS: E-MAIL: 

For questions or concerns about this survey, contact Huell White at hwhite@cityofscappoose.org or 503-543-7184 6



7


	January 7, 2019
	12-3-18 CC work session
	12-3-18 CC meeting
	ORD 877
	Water Management and Conservation Plan
	6.
	Calendar



